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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Welcome to the

          3  Civil Service and Labor Hearing. My name is Joe

          4  Addabbo. I'll be chairing the hearing. It's a

          5  pleasure having you all here. Our hearing today is

          6  in two parts: First is Intro. 728, which is

          7  sponsored by Council Member David Weprin, which

          8  would extend Health Care Insurance Benefits to the

          9  surviving spouse or domestic partner of New York

         10  City retirees.

         11                 The second part of today's hearing is

         12  Intro. 577, also sponsored by Council Member David

         13  Weprin, to amend the Administrative Code to prohibit

         14  City agencies from compelling their employees to

         15  comply with uniformed policy that conflicts with the

         16  practices of a person's creator or religion.

         17                 But first we will hear Intro. 728. I

         18  want to thank the Committee staff for putting this

         19  hearing together, Mitch Schwartz, my legal counsel

         20  is sitting here to my right, Joan Povolny, our

         21  Policy Analyst, and Daniel Turriago, our Financial

         22  Analyst.

         23                 I will introduce colleagues as they

         24  come along. I want to thank the Sergeant-At-Arms for

         25  being here and for helping us get the room ready and
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          2  my legislative aid Steve Adenesio.

          3                 First, Intro. 728. This would amend

          4  the Health Insurance coverage and extend it to the

          5  surviving spouses, and business domestic partners,

          6  and/or domestic partners of New York City retirees.

          7                 This bill would eventually expand the

          8  coverage currently given to certain survivors of the

          9  Fire and Police Department retirees, similar to that

         10  coverage.

         11                 This bill would also decrease the

         12  amount such survivors must pay in order to extend

         13  such health care coverage to make it more

         14  affordable.

         15                 This Committee hearing will explore

         16  and discuss the issues of the implementation, cost

         17  and other issues related to Intro. 728.

         18                 At this point I want to thank all our

         19  retirees for their dedicated work to this great

         20  City. Thank you very much for the years of service

         21  that you have provided for us and our quality of

         22  life of our City.

         23                 At this point   we're going to

         24  introduce our first panel.

         25                 Our first panel is from the
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          2  Administration, Commissioner Hanley, from the Office

          3  of Labor Relations.

          4                 Commissioner Hanley, good to see you

          5  again.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Good to see you

          7  again. Nice to be here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please give your

          9  testimony.

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Good afternoon.

         11  My name is James F. Hanley, and I am the

         12  Commissioner of the Mayor's Office of Labor

         13  Relations for the City of New York. I am here today

         14  to testify in opposition to Intro. 728, which is a

         15  bill that would extend health insurance coverage to

         16  surviving spouses or domestic partners of deceased

         17  City retirees.

         18                 This bill would allow the surviving

         19  spouses and/or domestic partners to purchase health

         20  insurance coverage at a cost of 25 percent of the

         21  group rate.

         22                 The Administration opposes this bill

         23  based on the tremendous cost that it would impose

         24  upon the City, the fact that it would unlawfully

         25  interfere with the collective bargaining process,
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          2  and due to the fact that the potential exists that

          3  this bill would result in the City having to

          4  reallocate program funding away from active and

          5  retired City employees as a means of offsetting some

          6  of the costs associated with providing this benefit

          7  to surviving spouses and/or domestic partners.

          8                 As you know, the primary

          9  responsibility of my office is to represent the

         10  Mayor and the conduct of labor relations between the

         11  Mayor and the labor unions that represent employees

         12  of the City.

         13                 Part of that responsibility includes

         14  bargaining over and administering the employee

         15  benefit program for the City which includes the

         16  health insurance program.

         17                 I'd like to briefly describe the

         18  nature and extent of the health insurance coverage

         19  for City employees of the City of New York.

         20                 Health insurance coverage is a

         21  mandatory subject of collective bargaining, as set

         22  forth in the New York City Administrative Code.

         23                 These benefits and any changes in

         24  these benefits include changes to the eligibility

         25  criterion and our mandatory subjects of bargaining,
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          2  and are subject to agreement by the City and the

          3  MLC, the Municipal Labor Committee.

          4                 MLC is made up of all the labor

          5  unions who represent City workforce in the

          6  collective bargaining process.

          7                 Randi Weingarten, the President of

          8  the UFT, chairs this Committee.

          9                 City Council does not have authority

         10  to legislate changes to benefits that are subject to

         11  this collective bargaining process. The Taylor law

         12  vests in the Mayor exclusive power and authority to

         13  bargain and negotiate for agreements with employee

         14  organizations, representing City employees and

         15  preempt the City Council from enacting legislation

         16  establishing new benefits who are otherwise

         17  effecting terms and conditions of employment that

         18  are subject to collective bargaining.

         19                 Moreover, because this attempt to

         20  legislate benefits curtails the Mayor's power to

         21  bargain even if it were not preempted, it would

         22  require approval by referendum.

         23                 In addition, these legal defects, to

         24  these legal defects, the bill has serious fiscal

         25  implications for the City.
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          2                 Currently there are approximately

          3  337,000 employees enrolled in the City's Health

          4  Benefits Program. Sixty-two percent have family

          5  contracts of the 109,000 retirees receiving health

          6  benefits coverage, that's in addition to the

          7  337,000. The receiving health, 58 percent have

          8  family contracts.

          9                 The City's benchmark contribution for

         10  health insurance is based on the HMO rate for

         11  non-Medicare employees and retirees. The

         12  contribution for Medicare is based upon this GHI,

         13  Empire, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Senior Care rate.

         14                 Currently, under the federal

         15  Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of

         16  1985, known as COBRA, when an employee or retiree

         17  dies, the surviving spouse and/or domestic partner

         18  and eligible dependents have the opportunity to

         19  continue group health and/or welfare coverage at 102

         20  percent of the group rate for up to 36 months.

         21                 Intro. 728 would allow surviving

         22  spouses and/or domestic partners to receive health

         23  insurance coverage for life at a cost of only 25

         24  percent of the group rate.

         25                 I cannot emphasize enough that the
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          2  passage of this bill would place a huge unfunded

          3  mandate on the City of New York.

          4                 For example, the cost of this bill

          5  goes from $8 million to $40 million per year in the

          6  first five years, and by the tenth year, the cost

          7  would be approximately $100 million per year.

          8                 By the 15th year, the cost would be

          9  $175 million per year. Furthermore, in accordance

         10  with GASB, 45 Government Accounting Standards Board,

         11  which the City will be required to state the present

         12  value for all post employment benefits in the

         13  Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, published by

         14  the Office of the Comptroller.

         15                 As a result, the passage of this bill

         16  could add billions, billions as in b, to the

         17  existing liability for retiree retirement benefits.

         18                 In conclusion, while the goal of

         19  Intro. 728 is commendable, in its desire to improve

         20  access to health insurance to surviving spouses, the

         21  Administration opposes this legislation on the

         22  grounds that it legally interferes with the

         23  bargaining process, creates an enormous cost burden

         24  for the City, and ultimately has the potential to

         25  divert funding away from the City's active and
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          2  retired employees in favor of retiree spouses and

          3  domestic partners.

          4                 At a time when the City's pension and

          5  health care costs are sky-rocketing, it would simply

          6  be fiscally irresponsible to impose another huge

          7  unfunded mandate such as this on the City.

          8                 This concludes my testimony. I would

          9  be happy to answer any questions that you may have.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Commissioner Hanley. I want to thank you again for

         13  your testimony. Before I get to any questioning, I'd

         14  like to introduce Council Member David Weprin, who

         15  is the prime sponsor of Intro. 728, and I'd like him

         16  to make a statement at this point.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 I first want to thank Chairman Joe

         20  Addabbo of the Civil Service and Labor Committee for

         21  expeditiously scheduling this hearing today on

         22  Intro. 728.

         23                 I would also like to thank DC 37

         24  retirees for all their help in bringing this

         25  important issue to my attention.
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          2                 This bill is an historic piece of

          3  legislation for the City of New York. Currently one

          4  in four, or 1.8 million New York City residents, 1.8

          5  million New York City residents do not have health

          6  insurance.

          7                 Nationwide, adults account for 37

          8  million of the uninsured or 80 percent of the total

          9  number, and this figure is rising.

         10                 The City Council has an obligation to

         11  find creative ways to reduce the number of uninsured

         12  and to preserve health care coverage for those who

         13  already have it.

         14                 One of the ways people frequently

         15  lose health coverage is due to a change in family

         16  circumstance, such as the death of the prime health

         17  insurance provider.

         18                 It is this circumstance that the

         19  Survivors Health Care Coverage Act, Intro. 728,

         20  seeks to prevent.

         21                 Intro. 728 will extend health

         22  insurance coverage to the surviving spouse or

         23  surviving domestic partner of City retirees.

         24  Currently these individuals are left without health

         25  coverage once their retired spouse, a former City
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          2  employee, has passed away.

          3                 Therefore, these individuals, almost

          4  200,000 in number, already have health care

          5  coverage. Let me repeat. They already have health

          6  care coverage. They just need to be able to keep it.

          7                 This bill will let them do just that,

          8  to keep their health insurance coverage. As of now

          9  this bill has over 20 sponsors, plus the public

         10  advocate.

         11                 I respectfully urge the Committee to

         12  support Intro. 728, the Survivors Health Care

         13  Coverage Act.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Weprin.

         17                 To those who just joined us, we are

         18  doing the first part of this hearing. I would expect

         19  that we be respectful of this first part of the

         20  hearing, so please, conversations, if you must, take

         21  them outside. I thank you very much for your

         22  courtesy.

         23                 Commissioner, again, thank you very

         24  much for being here.

         25                 A couple of questions, Commissioner.
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          2                 Currently for Fire and Police

          3  Department survivors, or families of their retirees,

          4  there is similar coverage, correct?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: No. If they're

          6  killed in the line of duty, the answer is yes. But

          7  otherwise the answer is no.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Nothing for the

          9  police or fire retirees?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Not that I know

         11  of, no.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         13                 You had mentioned the cost between

         14  eight and 40 million in the first five years. Again,

         15  and you broke it down into ten years and 15 years.

         16  Again, can you briefly just explain how you arrived

         17  at those numbers? The accounting principles, how you

         18  came to those numbers.

         19                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Those are all

         20  the GASB principles that we are going to be bound

         21  by. In addition to that it's a straight headcount

         22  number and a straight headcount issue. It rises to

         23  $100 million after ten years, it's a growing

         24  population and ultimately $175 million after 15

         25  years.
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          2                 If you want any of the underlying

          3  back-up, we'll be happy to supply it to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I think we all

          5  can admit the merits or the idea of Intro. 728 is

          6  commendable, as you mentioned, and we'd love to do

          7  this for the retirees. Do you see any way possible,

          8  in your personal opinion, that we can either afford

          9  or get the coverage to the surviving spouse or

         10  domestic partners?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: As you know,

         12  I've been bargaining contracts for the City of New

         13  York for 33 years now, and it's always darkness

         14  before the dawn.

         15                 When unions bring things to the

         16  table, so much can be accomplished, when in fact,

         17  there is a meeting of the minds or a desire to get

         18  things accomplished. Sometimes incrementally,

         19  sometimes all at once. But, in fact, much can be

         20  done.

         21                 Keep in mind, as I had indicated,

         22  it's not only a cost issue, it is the whole

         23  bargaining process itself is also a deep concern.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That was my

         25  other line of questioning, with regards to
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          2  collective bargaining. You mentioned that this would

          3  actually be an issue of collective bargaining,

          4  therefore out of the jurisdiction of legislation to

          5  an extent.

          6                 Explain, if you can, again, briefly,

          7  if or how it becomes an issue of collective

          8  bargaining in dealing not with wages or not with

          9  anything else other than benefits of surviving

         10  spouses?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: We have

         12  bargained extensively on employees that are active

         13  employees that ought to become retired employees,

         14  and we, in fact, provide certain supplemental health

         15  benefits through a welfare fund through the

         16  bargaining process, dental coverage, things of that

         17  nature, for people who are going to be retired.

         18                 One way or another, when you bring

         19  things to the table, so much can be accomplished and

         20  has been.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right. But this

         22  is not dental coverage, this is health care in the

         23  sense health care coverage --

         24                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Well, health

         25  care coverage and vision care coverage and other
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          2  types of supplemental health coverage have been

          3  bargained for in that process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Could you think

          5  that if we can maybe narrow down the language to an

          6  extent that basically this would not become a

          7  collective bargaining issue?

          8                 Is there any other language you could

          9  use --

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Through the

         11  legislative process, I'd be very much surprised, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 I think if you go through the

         14  bargaining process in a collaborative collective

         15  way, and you build, as opposed to merely introduce

         16  something, but if the parties begin the process of

         17  building together, to build a consensus, you can

         18  address all sorts of hurdles.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And in

         20  calculating the cost. Again, going back to that

         21  issue.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Was it

         24  considered that we are talking of retirees,

         25  obviously there is a life expectancy issue, was that
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          2  taken into account?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Yes, it

          4  certainly was. But as I indicated, we'll be happy to

          5  share those with any of your staff people whenever

          6  you want.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I appreciate

          8  that, Commissioner.

          9                 Questions from Council Member Weprin.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Mr. Hanley, I

         11  got here a little late, so I missed the early part

         12  of your testimony, but from what I gather, you would

         13  agree with the principle that there is a moral

         14  obligation to take care of the needs in the case of

         15  surviving spouses who have no other health insurance

         16  coverage and immediately lose that health care

         17  coverage due to the death of the employee, but you

         18  disagree with the method that we're attempting to do

         19  it; is that an accurate statement?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: To address the

         21  second part of your question first, there is a cost

         22  issue, which is a concern, a serious concern. In

         23  addition to that, there is also a process question,

         24  as far as the collective bargaining process is

         25  concerned.
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          2                 So, I think that is a concern with a

          3  back door approach. There is also a governance

          4  issue.

          5                 As far as morality is concerned, I

          6  was in fact a student of morality for many, many

          7  years and I usually separate the church and state

          8  issues. I'm not prepared to --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Well, I didn't

         10  mean morality in a sense of church and state, I

         11  meant obligation of government to provide for those

         12  that are in dire circumstances and have no other way

         13  to survive.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I commented on

         15  the bill and indicated that the goals were

         16  commendable, so I guess that addresses what we'd be

         17  getting at, but the other concerns are very real as

         18  well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. Well,

         20  wouldn't you agree though, that certainly in the

         21  early years the dollar amount is a very small amount

         22  in proportion to a $50 billion New York City budget?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: On the first day

         24  it's very small. And it grows to $175 million over

         25  15 years. So, over a period of time.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Well, the

          3  budget will probably grow to over $100 billion.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: It may.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. No

          6  further questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Commissioner,

          8  lastly, you know, most recently we extended health

          9  care coverage to the survivors of a DOT worker, and

         10  periodically when a City employee passes away in the

         11  line of duty, the Mayor will come forth and ask the

         12  Council to extend this health care coverage.

         13                 Can you see, basically, a correlation

         14  between what is done on that -- again, I know the

         15  difference is obviously passing away in the line of

         16  duty, but extending the health care coverage to

         17  survivors of the City employees, can you see the

         18  correlation between what we have done in the past

         19  with these City employees who passed away in the

         20  line of duty, and retirees in passing on the health

         21  care coverage?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: With all due

         23  respect, I see quite a difference with an employee

         24  that is killed in the line of duty and mowed down on

         25  the street, as opposed to someone who may never have
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          2  ever worked for the City of New York. So, I do see a

          3  difference. But that's a subject of judgment call. I

          4  see a difference, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes, I know

          6  currently it's in the Mayor's discretion to do that.

          7  But there is nothing legally binding, obviously, to

          8  currently force the Mayor to do something. So, it is

          9  Mayor's discretion, correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Yes. The answer

         11  is yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So, it would be

         13  the Mayor's discretion as well to forward the

         14  survivors of any City retirees in the event if it's

         15  their families, correct? The Mayor could do it if he

         16  wanted to?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: To a retired

         18  employee? No, it's a matter of the administrative

         19  code right now. Health insurance is provided to

         20  retired employees through a provision of the

         21  Administrative Code, so that's a matter of law right

         22  now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So, again, the

         24  Mayor could do it, if obviously he had asked the

         25  Council to go forward with a piece of legislation,
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          2  like the one we have here?

          3                 All I'm trying to say is, the Mayor,

          4  if he wanted to, could do this? There's nothing

          5  legally binding saying we couldn't do it.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I think there's

          7  a question of governance here. I do believe that

          8  there is an underlying legal question.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: What would that

         10  be? I'm sorry, Commissioner, what would that be?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: The difference

         12  of governance.

         13                 Those issues that have mandatory

         14  subjective bargaining. Those issues that we

         15  routinely and historically have bargained on. I

         16  believe that those rest within the Mayor.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: We agree within

         18  our legal jurisdiction to -- I mean, we've done it

         19  for those who have passed away in the line of duty,

         20  taking that factor out of it, passing on insurance,

         21  health care coverage to surviving spouses, we have

         22  done it. So we are within our jurisdiction.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Pursuant to a

         24  law that was passed that allows it and permits it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Exactly.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Right now no

          3  such law exists.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right. A law

          5  that would have been introduced by the Mayor through

          6  this Committee, actually, Labor Committee. So, what

          7  I'm saying is the Mayor could do this for the

          8  retirees if, of course, he wanted to?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: As the law

         10  exists right now the answer is now.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: With a piece of

         12  legislation he could, though.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: If there were a

         14  piece of legislation that would withstand a test

         15  that it was legal and proper, I suppose, it's a

         16  hypothetical, but I think the answer is yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I think we would

         19  have a difference as to whether or not it would be

         20  legal.

         21                 That particular bill that you're

         22  referring to is called the Hannely bill, no

         23  relationship to me whatsoever, it's spelled

         24  differently, but it was a firefighter -- excuse me,

         25  a Sanitation worker that was killed in the line of
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          2  duty.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: That's correct.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: So, that was

          5  done in an orderly process. I think this is

          6  considerably different.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Considering

          8  again, and correct me if you think I'm wrong, but

          9  considering what we've done in the past, and being

         10  that we are within our jurisdiction, I am just

         11  hopeful that maybe some day the Administration and

         12  the Council can come to an agreement as far as a

         13  piece of legislation that some day may be able to

         14  get the coverage to the survivor of the spouse of

         15  New York City retirees.

         16                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Much has been

         17  done through the bargaining process. Many items that

         18  people thought would never be legal were

         19  accomplished through the bargaining process. In

         20  fact, we are involved in those things regularly now.

         21                 I believe that that would be the most

         22  orderly and proper way to do it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Commissioner,

         24  thank you very much for your time and testimony.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Thank you.

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          3                 Our next panel, a panel of four. And

          4  forgive me if I mispronounce a name. We have Stu

          5  Leibowitz, from Retirees Association of DC 37. Wana

          6  Ulysse, from Charles Ensley, Local 371, SEIU.

          7  William Pinkett. Mr. Pinkett, Council of Municipal

          8  Retirees. Mr. Pinkett, please step forward. And

          9  Stephen Ferrer, New York City Managerial Employers

         10  Association. All four. All four sit down.

         11                 Just push in the red button. Please

         12  give your name and affiliation and then your

         13  testimony, please.

         14                 MR. LEIBOWITZ: Good afternoon. My

         15  name is Stu Leibowitz, the President of the Retirees

         16  Association of District Council 37, the entity

         17  Finance Chair made reference to when we brought

         18  this, and I am also the Chair of the New York City

         19  Alliance for Retired Americans, which is the retiree

         20  arm of the New York City Central Labor Council. So,

         21  I have here two hats that I'm wearing.

         22                 I'd like to read from my prepared

         23  speech, and I'd like to give some response to

         24  Commissioner Hanley's comments, which I think

         25  deserve to be aired. First my comments.
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          2                 I am a retiree, and the president of

          3  the Retirees Association of District Council 37,

          4  representing 50,000 retirees. I am also the Chair of

          5  the New York City Alliance for Retired Americans,

          6  which is the retiree arm of the New York City

          7  Central Labor Council.

          8                 The New York City ARA represents more

          9  than 300,000 retirees, including my 50,000, as well

         10  as 50,000 from the United Federation of Teachers,

         11  and tens of thousands of retirees from Local 237

         12  IBT, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, and the

         13  Communication Workers of America, CWA. I want to

         14  thank you for allowing me this opportunity to speak

         15  on behalf of Intro. 728, a bill that would continue

         16  health insurance coverage through the surviving

         17  spouse or domestic partner of a City retiree.

         18                 I come before you and appeal to you

         19  on behalf of almost 200,000 retirees. As already

         20  indicated, our health coverage automatically and

         21  immediately terminates upon the death of the retired

         22  spouse. The spouse or domestic partner always had

         23  the health coverage at no cost while the partner was

         24  alive.

         25                 Now in the hour of death, the
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          2  survivor not only loses the spouse, but also the

          3  health insurance coverage they always had.

          4                 We feel that this City Council has

          5  the opportunity to strike a great blow for justice

          6  and fairness by enacting this law.

          7                 The survivors of New York State

          8  Retirees already have the benefits similar to Intro.

          9  728, that is to pay only 25 percent of the cost of

         10  health insurance.

         11                 There is a great health care crisis

         12  in this country. Already nearly 2 million New

         13  Yorkers lack health insurance and the taxpayers pay

         14  the price. You may not be able to do much about

         15  federal policies which allow nearly 40 million

         16  Americans to be without health care, but you can do

         17  something here in New York City to prevent losing

         18  health care surviving spouses always had.

         19                 It has been said that if you don't

         20  stand for something, you fall for anything. We want

         21  this City Council to stand tall in this issue and do

         22  the right thing.

         23                 We have a lot in common, you and I.

         24  You all hope to live to be retirees, the people on

         25  whose behalf I speak.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Post term

          3  limits.

          4                 MR. LEIBOWITZ: Well, there's another

          5  life after term limits.

          6                 Most of you have spouses and we all

          7  die. You have the opportunity to ensure all

          8  surviving spouses, your own included, with the

          9  dignity they deserve. After all, we are all public

         10  servants.

         11                 Certainly, the City Council that

         12  changed the law over the Mayor's veto to provide for

         13  free parking on Sundays can also change the law to

         14  provide for continuation of health insurance

         15  coverage for the surviving spouses of City retirees.

         16                 Robert Kennedy once said, quote,

         17  "Some men see things as they are and say why? I

         18  dream things that never were and say why not?"

         19                 Dream the dream. Pass Intro. 728, and

         20  your names will be blessed.

         21                 That's my prepared remarks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Leibowitz.

         24                 MR. LEIBOWITZ: No, I'm not done yet.

         25                 Now, some comments on Hanley's
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          2  remarks. Jim Hanley made reference to two things

          3  basically, the cost and the collective bargaining

          4  process. But what he did not say is that the

          5  retirees are not a part of the collective bargaining

          6  process. He is correct that the collective

          7  bargaining process deals with health care for active

          8  employees, retirees are prohibited from being

          9  involved in the collective bargaining process and

         10  the only way we have to go is the legislative

         11  process, not the collective bargaining process.

         12                 So, when he talks about being

         13  violative of the process with respect to this

         14  legislation, not line of duty where the member was

         15  still alive when the retirees do not have line of

         16  duty death because we're already retired. With

         17  respect to retirees, there is no collective

         18  bargaining process. It is illegal, statutorily.

         19                 Now, it is true that if the City

         20  wants to agree to provide benefits for retirees,

         21  even if they don't have to, that can and has been

         22  done. But he's incorrect when he makes a reference

         23  to the New York City collective bargaining law and

         24  applies it to this legislation. We are not a part of

         25  the collective bargaining process.
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          2                 The other thing I want to refer to,

          3  Councilman Addabbo, is his thing on the cost. He

          4  didn't know how it was derived and was giving you

          5  some generally accepted accounting principle stuff,

          6  and I think you or Councilperson Weprin tried to

          7  address it.

          8                 This City budget, the current budget

          9  is over $50 billion. This year, and every year, as

         10  we all know, it goes up incrementally. Now, this

         11  year the cost of this legislation is less than $8

         12  million, and we have to put this amount in

         13  perspective. Ten percent of a $50 billion budget is

         14  $5 billion. One percent of a $50 billion is $500

         15  million. One-tenth of one percent is 50 million, and

         16  this is only 8 million for year one.

         17                 Now, so this year, and even if the

         18  average cost of this bill over an 11-year cycle will

         19  run over $50 million, it's a fictitious number, but

         20  even if that would be the actual hard number, every

         21  year it's less than one-tenth of one percent of the

         22  City budget, 99.9 percent of the budget is

         23  unaffected by this, which the retirees cannot deal

         24  with in collective bargaining.

         25                 Now, what he does is, what Hanley
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          2  did, it's easy. He could say, well, of course so

          3  much money this year, in ten years it's going to

          4  cost so much more, but he doesn't say how much the

          5  City budget might be in ten years. In ten years the

          6  City budget might go from 50 billion to 500 billion.

          7  The real issue is, the real issue is what is the

          8  percentage? How much would this benefit cost as a

          9  percentage of the budget in the year that the budget

         10  is being introduced, and I suggest to you,

         11  Councilpersons, both of you are there, I suggest to

         12  you that the cost is what we on the street would

         13  call "chump change," and the taxpayer ends up paying

         14  it anyway one way or another because when the

         15  spouses do not have the coverage they may have to go

         16  on the public dole or the public hospitals, we end

         17  up paying for it anyway, just a matter of where.

         18                 So, I just wanted to, that was not

         19  part of my prepared remarks, but I want, we're

         20  seeking for you, the City Council, to do the right

         21  thing. Our retirees, we're not talking

         22  fly-by-nights, we're talking about survivors who

         23  receive health coverage. In order to receive health

         24  coverage, the retiree had to have ten years. We're

         25  not talking about somebody comes to work in the City
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          2  one day and then leaves the next day. So, we're

          3  talking about the survivors of retired civil

          4  servants, and we believe it's fitting and proper.

          5                 Thank you for the hearings. Fitting

          6  and proper for you guys to do the right thing. Thank

          7  you very much. And if you have any questions, I'd

          8  like to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Leibowitz. Thank you, gentlemen. Why don't we hear

         11  from the lady.

         12                 MS. ULYSSE: Good afternoon. My name

         13  is Wana Ulysse. I'm the Vice President of Political

         14  Action at Local 371. I'm here in the absence of

         15  Charles Ensley, President of Local 371.

         16                 Good afternoon. My name is Wana

         17  Ulysse with the Social Service Employees Union,

         18  Local 371, representing 18,000 social service

         19  workers. Although our members are all active

         20  employees, we strongly support this legislation

         21  because many of our workers have or will retire from

         22  City service. A piece of mind for them and their

         23  family after a life-long of City service is

         24  something we owe our members.

         25                 It is not right, after 25 or 30 years
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          2  of serving the neediest of New Yorkers, our members

          3  are now left to fend for themselves on the death of

          4  -- in the event of the death of their spouse.

          5                 Most cannot afford to pay for a

          6  private insurance, which is prohibitively expensive.

          7  Allowing them to continue coverage by paying 27

          8  percent of the cost is reasonable, sensible and

          9  just.

         10                 We urge you to pass this legislation.

         11                 MR. PINKETT: Okay, I can hear myself

         12  now. I am certainly honored. My name is William

         13  Pinkett, and I am the Chairman of the Council of

         14  Municipal Employees Organizations of the City of New

         15  York, a position which I hold with great honor and

         16  with great dedication. I'm also very honored by the

         17  Council Member Addabbo and Council Member Weprin, to

         18  have this opportunity to speak before this group,

         19  and honored also by the people who turned out here

         20  today in support of this very important legislation.

         21  And now I'll get to the prepared script.

         22                 One of the longstanding inequities of

         23  the City of New York, of New York City's Municipal

         24  Employer Provided Health Programs has been the

         25  failure of the City to continue the funding of the
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          2  spouse of a member of a plan when the retiree dies.

          3  Widows and widowers of deceased retirees lose their

          4  health benefits at a time when they are most

          5  vulnerable. A surviving spouse -- to lose a spouse

          6  is extremely tragic. To lose one's health plan

          7  coverage at the same time is doubly distressing. A

          8  surviving spouse most often is totally unfamiliar

          9  with what their income from the deceased pension is

         10  going to be, if any. In some cases the deceased

         11  retiree took the maximum pension they could receive,

         12  in which case the surviving spouse is left with no

         13  future pension payment.

         14                 The surviving spouse is faced with

         15  the termination of health care coverage from the

         16  City, a benefit that they had during the life of

         17  their deceased spouse.

         18                 Several years ago the federal

         19  government passed the COBRA law, which allows a

         20  surviving spouse to purchase the plan that they once

         21  had at a cost of 102 percent of the cost that the

         22  City would pay for, for a period of three years.

         23                 This is of some help to those few

         24  surviving spouses that can afford to pay for it. In

         25  circumstances where they have lost the pension
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          2  income of a husband or a wife completely, if the

          3  pension had took maximum, or partially, if the

          4  pensioner chose an optional amount for his surviving

          5  spouse to receive after his or her death.

          6                 As we can all see, there's a

          7  possibility of a tragedy being heaped upon another

          8  tragedy, again, at a most vulnerable time in one's

          9  life.

         10                 Presently we have a situation in the

         11  world's greatest City, New York, where approximately

         12  one out of every four citizens lack health

         13  insurance.

         14                 This legion of the uninsured face the

         15  shameful need to go without basic medical care, such

         16  as annual exams and regular physicians visits which

         17  provide preventative care. Often their only recourse

         18  is to wait until their health conditions reach life

         19  threatening situations that bring them to the

         20  hospitals emergency rooms. Of if they appear without

         21  insurance, the City must pick up the draconian

         22  medical cost of hospitalization.

         23                 This can be avoided by continuing the

         24  health care insurance they had when the pensioner

         25  was living. The Chief sponsor of this bill has been
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          2  quoted as saying, when we find a way to reduce the

          3  number of uninsured, we find a way to save the

          4  taxpayer money and a way to save lives.

          5                 The provisions of Intro. 78 have been

          6  a goal of the Council of Municipal Employees of the

          7  City of New York's group of more than 150,000

          8  retirees since its inception in the early 1970s.

          9                 Today this Committee has the

         10  opportunity to make the lives of men and women who

         11  have served this municipality with their hard years

         12  of work reach a new level of comfort by allowing

         13  life-saving health insurance to continue to cover

         14  their dependents after the death of the pensioner.

         15                 On behalf of the Council of Municipal

         16  Retirees of the City of New York, COMRO, I wish to

         17  thank the Committee on Civil Service and Labor and

         18  the many sponsors of this bill for holding this

         19  hearing and giving us the opportunity to speak in

         20  favor of this bold, historic effort, which has been

         21  a long time in coming.

         22                 Respectfully, William Pinkett,

         23  Council of Municipal Retirees Organization, City of

         24  New York. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Pinkett.

          3                 MR. FERRER: Good afternoon. My name

          4  is Stephen Ferrer. I represent as the President of

          5  the New York City Managerial Employees Association.

          6  I would like to take this opportunity to thank Chair

          7  Addabbo, and Committee Member Weprin for allowing me

          8  to testify today.

          9                 The New York City Managerial Employee

         10  Association represents career managers who play a

         11  critical role in the day-to-day operations of City

         12  government. We are also unique in that we also

         13  represent retired managers who have served the

         14  population of the City of New York.

         15                 Another sign of our uniqueness, we

         16  are not a union, as under the Taylor Law, as you

         17  know, managers cannot be in the union, but we are an

         18  advocate organization for the managers of the City

         19  of New York.

         20                 I'm here today to express our support

         21  for Intro 728, in order to extend health insurance

         22  coverage to the surviving spouse, or the surviving

         23  domestic partner of the City retirees.

         24                 Passage would mean that those who

         25  have lost their life partners will not be forced to
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          2  face the crucial loss of critical health insurance

          3  benefits at a time when they are most vulnerable.

          4                 We all understand how lost you may

          5  feel when a loved one passes, particularly when they

          6  were the primary source of our economic security,

          7  including our health insurance coverage.

          8                 Health care professionals agree that

          9  a continuum of care is the best means of avoiding

         10  unnecessary medical exams, procedures and costs. By

         11  allowing surviving spouses and partners to maintain

         12  health insurance through the same carrier, Intro.

         13  728 will help these people to remain under the

         14  medical services umbrella of their long-time

         15  providers.

         16                 This helps to reduce the risk of

         17  needless visits and exams and costly illnesses.

         18                 Therefore, Intro. 728, we feel, is

         19  good government in addition to being the right thing

         20  to do. New York City Managerial Employees

         21  Association urges passage of this important

         22  initiative.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         25  much, Mr. Ferrer. And I want to thank you all for
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          2  being here today.

          3                 We have a couple of questions. I'll

          4  have Council Member Weprin address the panel at this

          5  point.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I just want to

          7  make a statement. One is, you know, I want to

          8  recognize, it's an honor to have you, Mr. Pinkett,

          9  in this Chamber, and, of course, for those of you

         10  that don't know, his late wife Mary Pinkett served

         11  in the City Council in the City for so many years of

         12  great distinction. And I believe she actually

         13  chaired the Civil Service and Labor Committee as

         14  well. So, it's particularly enlightening and in our

         15  honor to have you, Mr. Pinkett, here testifying on

         16  behalf of my bill.

         17                 MR. PINKETT: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I also want to

         19  recognize Stu Leibowitz's leadership for so many

         20  years. So many people often retire and take a back

         21  seat and fall into the shadows, move down to

         22  Florida, other places, and are not as active in the

         23  communities that they came from, but you certainly

         24  cannot say that by Stu Leibowitz, because is there

         25  fighting on the lines each and every day in so many
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          2  different areas on behalf of retirees and also on

          3  behalf of other issues that, you know that he deems

          4  important for the labor movement and for the City as

          5  a whole.

          6                 So, I want to recognize that as well.

          7                 And, again, despite Mr. Hanley's

          8  comments and on the principle, I think it's a good

          9  point that Mr. Leibowitz brought out, and I want to

         10  reemphasize it, that you are not part of collective

         11  bargaining as retirees, and the point that I brought

         12  up earlier is that we currently have a $50 billion

         13  budget. When I first started just a little over four

         14  years ago, it was just a little over 40 billion, so

         15  it's already gone up about 10 billion in four years,

         16  and if you continue at that rate, by the time, you

         17  know, 15 years, ten or 15 years come around, we're

         18  probably going to be over $100 billion and on a

         19  percentage basis we're talking about a very small

         20  percentage.

         21                 And it's very hard to determine what

         22  the real cost to the City if we don't pass this

         23  bill, because we do still have, and I will use the

         24  term, I have no problem, a moral obligation, to take

         25  care of our citizens that can't take care of
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          2  themselves.

          3                 And that's why we have such a great

          4  Health and Hospital System, the New York City Health

          5  and Hospital System, and we will not turn anybody

          6  away regardless of health insurance in life and

          7  death situations and medical emergencies. And as a

          8  result, by not having this insurance, it may cost

          9  the City of New York more in the end.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Weprin. Let me again, along with

         13  Council Member Weprin, you know, my personal opinion

         14  is that when the government can, and when the

         15  government should obviously pick up the slack at

         16  some point, we do have an obligation to do that for

         17  our City residents, and especially in this case,

         18  retirees sometimes need that assistance. So, we have

         19  an opportunity here today as the Civil Service and

         20  Labor Committee, and as the City Council, to do

         21  something about it. We are taking a positive first

         22  step today, and we are hopeful that after today we

         23  can take additional steps all the way to the end

         24  result of getting the health care coverage to the

         25  surviving spouses, which I think is duly deserved.
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          2                 So, I am hopeful that we can carry

          3  this forward beyond today.

          4                 To the panel, again, thank you very

          5  much for your time.

          6                 Again, I agree with Council Member

          7  Weprin, with what you brought up, two actually very

          8  good points: 1) retirees are not part of the

          9  collective bargaining process. I think that has to

         10  be mentioned, because obviously this piece of

         11  legislation would assist that issue.

         12                 And, secondly, the fact that the cost

         13  of this is a fraction of the total budget. Now, we

         14  have to be mindful and be realistic. Yes, it's a $50

         15  billion budget and the total cost to this would be

         16  fractional. In that $50 billion budget, even next

         17  year, Fiscal Year '07, we are looking at a four,

         18  roughly $4 billion deficit. So the City is not out

         19  of the woods financially. We have to be mindful of

         20  that because that deficit has   caused a lot of cuts

         21  throughout the City of good programs, and has hurt,

         22  you know, many City residents.

         23                 So, we have to be mindful, we have to

         24  deal with that deficit. But when you look at

         25  possibly saving in other areas of spending, cutting

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  some other costs, it possibly could be worked out

          3  that we can find the money needed, you know, initial

          4  $8 million or so to at least start this program. So,

          5  I look forward to working to that.

          6                 Ms. Ulysse, you had mentioned that

          7  most people can't afford the private insurance,

          8  which is true, it's expensive. And here we actually

          9  reduced the cost of what the survivor would have to

         10  pay into to reduce the cost of the coverage.

         11                 If the panel can, and I open this up

         12  to anyone sitting at the panel, without this piece

         13  of legislation, why is it so important that we do

         14  this to alleviate that cost to seniors, or again,

         15  survivors who duly need the coverage? And how does

         16  the reduction of what they would pay under this

         17  legislation help?

         18                 MR. LEIBOWITZ: Currently, for a

         19  non-Medicare retiree, when the retiree dies, they

         20  would have to pick up health insurance costs. As

         21  Hanley pointed out correctly, under the current law,

         22  under the COBRA law, they can purchase the cost at

         23  102 percent. 102 percent, but that's only for a

         24  maximum of three years. People live longer than 36

         25  months as survivors. After that, they have to go try

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  to find it by themselves.

          3                 The ultimate solution, Councilperson,

          4  is universal health care. That's the ultimate

          5  solution. Medicare for all, as it were. But until

          6  that day comes, but until that day comes, it is

          7  expensive to buy health insurance, especially for

          8  retirees who tend to be older. The older you are,

          9  the more expensive, the more expensive it costs.

         10                 So, many people end up, many

         11  survivors end up having no health coverage, adding

         12  to the 2 million New Yorkers who do not have it, and

         13  the taxpayer ultimately ends up paying anyway,

         14  because if they have to go to a City hospital with

         15  no insurance, the taxpayer pays. If they have to go

         16  anywhere else, public service taxpayer pays.

         17                 So, the 8 million cost, or whatever

         18  the cost is fictitious, to the extent where

         19  currently it's costing the City millions of dollars

         20  now, the cost is just invisible.

         21                 Now, what we're trying to do, and in

         22  the cost thing, see, Hanley was unfamiliar with

         23  numbers, but I'm familiar with the numbers, it costs

         24  the City less for a Medicare retiree, because

         25  Medicare picks up a huge part of the cost, and it's
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          2  cost the City twice as much for non-Medicare

          3  survivor than it does for a Medicare survivor.

          4                 But what's happening, Councilperson,

          5  as you know, we all know, thank God, people are

          6  living longer, and they just are, and with health

          7  costs skyrocketing the way they are, it's a moral

          8  obligation. Economically it can be done. I have

          9  always taken the position that budgets are a matter

         10  of priority. You guys are better than I. There's

         11  plenty of money, just a matter of where it goes. Who

         12  is going to get it? What are you going to do with

         13  the money that's there?

         14                 And as I mentioned in my remarks

         15  earlier, this City Council overrode the Mayor's veto

         16  on parking meters for Sundays, this is going to cost

         17  $13 million. Thirteen million, and it's a matter of

         18  priorities. If you want to take care of your own. If

         19  you want to take care of the wretched of the earth,

         20  as it were, I know I'm overly dramatic, if you want

         21  to take care of your senior retirees, the survivors

         22  of public servants, you have the ability to do it,

         23  the question is, do you guys have the courage and

         24  the will and the desire to do it, and we say you can

         25  do it, do the right thing and you will be blessed,
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          2  as I mentioned, you certainly will. The Lord helps

          3  them who helps themselves too. That's my response.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Leibowitz. Any other members of the panel want to

          6  address the cost factor? Other than Mr. Leibowitz?

          7  Give somebody else a chance.

          8                 MR. PINKETT: Stu is always a

          9  dangerous act to try to follow. But I can say that,

         10  because I think I've known him since he was in short

         11  pants.

         12                 But anyway, there is a matter of cost

         13  factor that we can make very real. I work for the

         14  Council of Supervisors -- I work -- I volunteer for

         15  the Council of Supervisors and Administrators. I get

         16  a stipend, and I get my expenses paid. But that's

         17  not why I'm there. I'm there because I want to be

         18  there and I could help people in the same way that I

         19  tried to help them and my beloved spouse tried to

         20  help them.

         21                 We have people who have Medco and

         22  Medicare people, you're talking about now, and when

         23  cost comes to them, it's an additional $4,000 that

         24  they have to come up with if there is no other way

         25  of them being covered, and in most cases, I'm not
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          2  going to say most, in many, many cases there is no

          3  other way of them being covered.

          4                 This would reduce that $4,000 to

          5  maybe $1,500, which is a lot of money to somebody

          6  who isn't getting a pension from, that they used to

          7  get from a husband or a wife. But that makes a

          8  significant difference. So, whatever can be done by

          9  this Committee, and I think it's a really, I want to

         10  repeat, a bold step, but certainly a step in the

         11  right direction, will be of benefit, maybe can be

         12  improved upon later, but at this particular point,

         13  it is essential that some sort of relief be given to

         14  those that qualify.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Pinkett.

         18                 Would anybody else want to address

         19  the cost factor? No.

         20                 I want to thank this panel for being

         21  here today. Obviously this is not the end of the

         22  discussion. This is the beginning. So, again, I

         23  appreciate your time and testimony today. Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 That's going to conclude our
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          2  discussion on Intro. 728. What happens from here,

          3  ladies and gentlemen is, Council Member Weprin and

          4  myself, we would discuss with the Administration

          5  obviously we can go forward.

          6                 Right now, Intro. 728 has 20 Council

          7  members supporting it, plus the Public Advocate. We

          8  would need more support than that to override a

          9  Mayor's veto, if we even worked to support this

         10  intro today. So, I impress upon all those who are

         11  here today that testified to get out to our

         12  colleagues in the City Council and get support for

         13  Intro. 728.

         14                 I, myself, currently I am not on the

         15  list currently as a supporter, I will be adding my

         16  name today.

         17                 Thank you. And I encourage those who

         18  are in favor of Intro. 728 and doing the right thing

         19  for the retirees and their families to get out to

         20  their Council members and other Council members, to

         21  garner some support for this intro, Intro. 728.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 Ladies and gentlemen, we're going to

         24  take about a two-minute break while we entertain the

         25  second part of this hearing, which will be Intro.
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          2  577. So, we have a two-minute break while we wait

          3  for the Administration.

          4                 (Recess taken.)

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon,

          6  everyone. Welcome to the second part of today's

          7  Civil Service and Labor Committee hearing. My name

          8  is Joe Addabbo, I chair the Committee. To my right

          9  is Mitch Schwartz, our legal counsel. To my left,

         10  the prime sponsor of Intro. 577, Councilman David

         11  Weprin.

         12                 Today the Committee will be hearing

         13  Intro. 577. It is an oversight hearing, and Intro.

         14  577 would amend the Administrative Code to prohibit

         15  any City agency from forcing their employees to

         16  comply with a uniformed requirement that conflicts

         17  with that person's creed or religion.

         18                 The Committee will consider the

         19  feasibility of implementing such a rule, and whether

         20  the prohibition and Intro. 577 is a necessary act.

         21                 I want to thank you all for being

         22  here today. Because of the amount of witnesses who

         23  want to speak, we'll be using the clock so that we

         24  can get an opportunity to hear everyone and possibly

         25  ask questions.
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          2                 If you are asked to speak and you

          3  feel that the testimony you're going to give has

          4  already been given, in the interest of time and

          5  respect to others, if you don't want to come up

          6  forward and speak because what you said has already

          7  been said, I greatly appreciate it.

          8                 By all means, if I do call you up and

          9  you want to speak, you're more than welcome to

         10  speak. You must, of course, fill out one of these

         11  slips and we will be using a clock today just to

         12  limit our witnesses so that we can hear everyone.

         13                 At this point I'd like to welcome

         14  Anthony Crowell, the Special Counsel to the

         15  Administration of Michael Bloomberg, our Mayor.

         16                 Anthony, good to see you. If you

         17  could please give your testimony, I would appreciate

         18  it.

         19                 MR. CROWELL: Sure. Good afternoon,

         20  Chairperson Addabbo and members of the Committee.

         21  Council Member Weprin.

         22                 My name is Anthony Crowell, and I'm

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Anthony, I'm

         25  sorry, time out. One second. I did introduce him.
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          2  It's Council Member David Weprin. He is the prime

          3  sponsor of Intro. 577, and if I can, and I

          4  appreciate it, Council Member Weprin will make a

          5  statement at this point.

          6                 MR. CROWELL: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Brief.

          9                 First I want to thank Chairman

         10  Addabbo for agreeing to this hearing on Intro. 577.

         11  I know that Council Member Addabbo is as committed

         12  as I am to fighting against discrimination in the

         13  City of New York and his past history throughout his

         14  career has shown that.

         15                 I would also like to thank all of my

         16  23 colleagues who have co-sponsored this

         17  legislation, along with the 30 or so diverse

         18  organizations that have agreed to support it, many

         19  of whom are in the audience today.

         20                 Intro. 577, the City Uniform

         21  Anti-Discrimination Bill, is aimed at fighting the

         22  discrimination that is occurring in our City's

         23  public agencies. Recently employee uniform policies

         24  have been a hot source of debate with respect to

         25  their application by these agencies.
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          2                 While the best known case involves

          3  several MTA State employees, complaints by employees

          4  of the New York Police Department, the Fire

          5  Department of New York and the Departments of

          6  Sanitation and Corrections are not unknown. We

          7  cannot, and I repeat, we cannot stand for

          8  discrimination against public employees in our

          9  public agencies.

         10                 If the government allows for this

         11  behavior in public sector, it is henceforth promoted

         12  in the private sector as well. This bill does not

         13  prescribe a particular uniformed code that must be

         14  followed by City agencies.

         15                 It does not even ask for changes to

         16  current uniform codes. I believe that these actions

         17  would be overstepping the responsibilities of the

         18  Council, but I do believe it to be unreasonable to

         19  ask-- but I do not believe it to be unreasonable to

         20  ask that City agencies respect the practices of

         21  different religions by not directing that an order

         22  for an employee to retain his or her job he or she

         23  must forego a particular creed thus violating a

         24  religious mandate.

         25                 President John F. Kennedy said, "If
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          2  we cannot end our differences now, at least we can

          3  help make the world safe for diversity. This I

          4  believe is the purpose of this legislation and the

          5  larger task of this City Council. I urge the

          6  Committee to support and pass Intro. 577.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Crowell,

          9  thank you very much. Thank you.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: Again, good afternoon,

         11  Chairperson Addabbo and members of the Committee,

         12  Council Member Weprin. My name is Anthony Crowell,

         13  and I'm Special Counsel to Mayor Michael R.

         14  Bloomberg, and I'm here today on behalf of the

         15  Administration, the Department of Citywide

         16  Administrative Services and other affected City

         17  agencies.

         18                 I would like to thank you for this

         19  opportunity to testify concerning Intro. 577. Intro.

         20  577 would make it unlawful for uniformed agencies of

         21  the City, to require that employees comply with

         22  mandatory agency uniformed or specialized attire

         23  requirements, for such compliance would require the

         24  employee to violate or forego a practice of his or

         25  her creed or religion, except where the practice
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          2  unduly interferes with the safety of the work

          3  environment.

          4                 As an initial matter, please let me

          5  make clear the City is committed to ensuring equal

          6  employment opportunities for all New Yorkers, and

          7  has many laws, policies, standards and procedures

          8  that govern our efforts in this area. Indeed, many

          9  of those efforts are administered through DCAS's

         10  Office of Citywide Equal Employment Opportunity,

         11  which assists the Commissioner to develop and

         12  enforce the City's Equal Employment Opportunity

         13  Policy and other EEO-related policy standards and

         14  procedures.

         15                 Now, the City's EEO policy sets forth

         16  the protections available under federal, state and

         17  local laws that protect everyone who works within

         18  New York City government, or who seeks employment

         19  within City government against discrimination.

         20                 Among its provisions the policy

         21  prohibits discriminatory employment actions against

         22  and treatment of City employees and applicants for

         23  employment based on actual or perceived religion or

         24  creed. The Office of Citywide EEO also assists the

         25  City's agencies by developing or collaborating on
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          2  solutions, strategies and initiatives to effectively

          3  implement and fulfill the City's responsibility

          4  under the Fair Employment provisions of the Charter

          5  and other federal, state and local laws.

          6                 In addition, Citywide EEO monitors

          7  the EEO-related activities and data of City

          8  agencies. Citywide EEO also trains New York City

          9  employees who are serving as agency EEO officers and

         10  other EEO professionals, including EEO counselors,

         11  investigators or trainers, who conduct EEO training

         12  within their agencies.

         13                 The training courses include, for

         14  instance, an overview of federal, state and local

         15  anti-Discrimination laws, including types of conduct

         16  which are discriminatory and accommodation issues in

         17  the workplace, including religious accommodations.

         18                 In addition, the City's Commission on

         19  Human Rights is empowered to enforce the City's

         20  longstanding and comprehensive Human Rights Law.

         21  It's one of the most far-reaching in the nation and

         22  it protects New Yorkers against discrimination in

         23  virtually every aspect of their lives.

         24                 Among other things, the law prohibits

         25  discrimination and employment based on religion
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          2  and/or creed.

          3                 Administration Code section 8-107 sub

          4  3 addresses the unlawful employment practices that

          5  may be related to an employee's religious

          6  observance.

          7                 That section makes clear that in

          8  cases where the, quote, employer -- that in these

          9  cases the employer shall make reasonable

         10  accommodation to the religious needs of such person,

         11  and it defines reasonable accommodation as in,

         12  quote, accommodation to an employee's or perspective

         13  employee's religious observance or practice as shall

         14  not cause undue hardship in the conduct of the

         15  employer's business, and the employer shall have the

         16  burden of proof to show such hardship.

         17                 It should be noted that the City's

         18  Human Rights Law applies to the workplaces of City

         19  agencies. Accordingly, under the law, an employer,

         20  including the City, is required to accommodate a

         21  religious practice unless that accommodation

         22  requires significant difficulty, including a

         23  significant interference with the safe or efficient

         24  operation of the workplace or significant expense.

         25                 There is no question that the
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          2  Administration understands the importance of and

          3  supports providing reasonable accommodation for

          4  religious practice in the City's workplaces.

          5                 Indeed, as I will discuss, the City's

          6  uniform agencies have gone to great lengths to

          7  accommodate employees' religious practices. Intro.

          8  577, however, undermines existing law and goes too

          9  far by depriving the City agencies of any ability to

         10  make a reasonable accommodation, and instead, it

         11  would allow employees with religious needs to modify

         12  their uniforms however they see fit, without notice

         13  to or review by their agencies, regardless of

         14  whether such modifications threatens the safety of

         15  the general public results in lost productivity,

         16  undermines operational goals, or imposes unnecessary

         17  costs on City taxpayers.

         18                 The current legal framework has been

         19  effective in ensuring reasonable accommodations

         20  Citywide, and in particular, in City agencies.

         21                 The Department of Sanitation, for

         22  example, has been very successful in responding to

         23  the two requests for religious accommodations it

         24  receives on an ongoing basis.

         25                 The Department accommodates
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          2  Rastafarian male sanitation workers by allowing them

          3  to retain long hair braids, provided the individual

          4  secure the braids behind their heads for safety. It

          5  also accommodates Sanitation workers whose religions

          6  mandate observance of Sabbath on Saturdays,

          7  including but not limited to Jews, Muslims, Jehovah

          8  Witnesses, 7th Day Adventists, by adjusting their

          9  weekend schedules to ensure they are not assigned to

         10  Friday evening and/or Saturday morning or afternoon

         11  shifts.

         12                 The Police Department likewise has

         13  accommodated an officer who otherwise would have

         14  been required to shave his beard for work by

         15  allowing him to maintain a beard required by his

         16  religion.

         17                 The Police Department also regularly

         18  accommodates Sabbath observers and has granted 11

         19  requests in 2003 alone, for reasonable

         20  accommodations for members of the Muslim and Sikh

         21  religions, by allowing them to wear head coverings

         22  in the photos used for their NYPD identification

         23  cards.

         24                 The Department of Correction also has

         25  accommodated uniformed employees whose religious
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          2  beliefs require them to wear head coverings, such as

          3  yarmulkes, scarves, kufis and hijabs, by permitting

          4  them to wear such head coverings underneath their

          5  uniform hats when outdoors and without the uniform

          6  hats indoors.

          7                 Now, as these examples make clear,

          8  the federal, state and local laws already on the

          9  books have been extremely effective in preventing

         10  unlawful workplace discrimination based on religious

         11  practices and ensuring that employees with religious

         12  needs are reasonably accommodated.

         13                 However, in contrast to the effect of

         14  legal framework currently in place, Intro. 577, in

         15  an attempt to impose more stringent requirements,

         16  fortunately would force an unworkable standard that

         17  will undermine the careful balances created by

         18  existing law, and the ability of City agencies to

         19  serve and protect the public and their agency

         20  workforces.

         21                 Intro. 577 would completely

         22  eviscerate the reasonable accommodation standard

         23  inasmuch as City agencies are concerned.

         24                 Under that reasonable accommodation

         25  standard, City agencies have allowed uniform and
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          2  attire modifications that are both consistent with

          3  employee's religious needs, but at the same time do

          4  not compromise agency operations or public safety.

          5                 Such accommodations often involve

          6  uniformed modifications, designed to preserve the

          7  overall appearance of the employee as a uniformed

          8  worker and to ensure safety, two main functions of

          9  uniforms.

         10                 However, Intro. 577, by eliminating

         11  the reasonable accommodation standard, would allow

         12  employees to make modification to their uniforms of

         13  any size, color and nature, without any notice to a

         14  review by the agency, provided there is no undue

         15  interference with the safety of only the work

         16  environment.

         17                 As a result, Intro. 577 goes too far

         18  in undermining the uniform and attire requirements

         19  of City agencies.

         20                 Indeed, by not even requiring the

         21  employee to notify the agency that he or she intends

         22  to disregard its uniform requirements, Intro. 577

         23  denies the agency the interactive process it needs

         24  to control its workplace and assess the danger to

         25  the employee, his or her co-workers, and the general
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          2  public from the uniform modification. Intro. 577

          3  does not even give the agency a chance to create or

          4  implement an accommodation that would satisfy both

          5  the employee's needs and at the same time not

          6  compromise agency operations.

          7                 Further, the sole exception provided

          8  by Intro. 577, that the religious practice does not

          9  unduly interfere with the safety of the work

         10  environment, is much narrower than the current

         11  hardship standard and dangerously ambiguous. For

         12  instance, what is a firefighter's or police

         13  officer's work environment? Is it the fire or

         14  station house, or is it any place that the service

         15  member is doing business?

         16                 While it may be possible that a

         17  member's potentially distracting or unsafe uniform

         18  modification could pose little hardship at their

         19  fire or station house, it could pose a major

         20  obstacle to the agency's and member's ability in the

         21  field, on the City streets or, for example, in a

         22  burning building, to serve and protect the public

         23  and to protect the member's co-workers. Any bill

         24  that does not provide an explicit exception for

         25  interference with the general public safety is
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          2  simply dangerous.

          3                 Moreover, safety is but one of

          4  several legitimate and important reasons to deny

          5  religious accommodations in some circumstances.

          6  Where a uniform modification interferes with the

          7  ability of a City agency to do its job effectively

          8  and efficiently for the public, while it compromises

          9  the health or safety of the employer or his or her

         10  co-workers, or the sanitary nature of the workplace,

         11  or imposes unduly high costs on the taxpayer,

         12  accommodating such a modification may simply not be

         13  practicable.

         14                 Further, uniform requirements, among

         15  other things, promote an espirt de corps among

         16  officers, they impart an image of a law enforcement

         17  that is neutral and impartial, and make it easier

         18  for the public to identify an officer and to respond

         19  to that officer as an officer, rather than a member

         20  of a group that a uniform modification could

         21  potentially signal. Indeed, these are important and

         22  sensitive issues that need to be reviewed, evaluated

         23  and determined by an agency working with the

         24  employee.

         25                 In addition, the bill, as written
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          2  does not appear to accomplish its stated goals. For

          3  example, while the findings section indicates that

          4  the bill's intention is to address terms and

          5  conditions of employment that relate to uniforms or

          6  attire, the operative provision is worded such that

          7  it is ambiguous whether the bill applies to all

          8  terms and conditions of employment, which we do not

          9  think the drafters intended, or only to uniform

         10  requirements, as intended. This is an essential

         11  point deserving of clarification.

         12                 Further, the bill would permit an

         13  enormous range of practices that we do not believe

         14  its sponsors intended to permit.

         15                 It is possible to link a very wide

         16  array of practices to one's religious beliefs. It is

         17  important to realize that religion does not mean

         18  only the major religions, there are smaller, what

         19  some term as extreme groups, that hold incendiary

         20  views, including racist views, in the name of

         21  religious beliefs. This bill, as drafted, will

         22  permit a member of such a group to wear racist

         23  paraphernalia, for example, on his or her uniform.

         24  This bill also would give employees the free ability

         25  to wear political buttons, display offensive or
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          2  incendiary language or images, or make similar

          3  modifications to their uniforms or attire if such

          4  languages or images are arguably motivated by the

          5  employees' religious views.

          6                 Reproductive rights and death

          7  penalty-related paraphernalia come immediately to

          8  mind.

          9                 Finally, as discussed above, the key

         10  exception, that the religious practice "does not

         11  unduly interfere with the safety of the work

         12  environment?" Is so ambiguous that it will

         13  undoubtedly lead to litigation over its

         14  interpretation.

         15                 It is also worth noting that although

         16  Intro. 577 provides that one of its purposes is to

         17  prevent further litigation over this issue. The

         18  vagueness of the bill's provision, which I have

         19  already discussed, and the resulting uncertainty

         20  with respect to its intended scope, would most

         21  certainly lead to numerous lawsuits concerning the

         22  breadth of its interpretation.

         23                 It also bears mention that Intro. 577

         24  appears to intrude improperly on the Mayor's

         25  authority over the terms and conditions of
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          2  employment of City employees.

          3                 In conclusion, while we applaud the

          4  goal of preventing unlawful workplace discrimination

          5  based on religious practice, the City already has

          6  been successful in that regard, and we believe that

          7  Intro. 577 will not accomplish its objectives

          8  effectively.

          9                 Rather, the bill will prevent City

         10  agencies from reasonably accommodating the needs of

         11  their employees in a way that furthers public safety

         12  and operational success, while at the same time

         13  giving rise to unnecessary litigation over it's

         14  breadth.

         15                 Indeed, we believe the current system

         16  works well. Of course, we would welcome the

         17  opportunity to sit down with the Council to discuss

         18  how the existing legal and administrative processes

         19  could be refined in case specific circumstances that

         20  it is aware of.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Crowell. I appreciate your testimony.

         24                 I have a question. In your statement,

         25  you alluded to the fact that the City may already
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          2  have a structure in place to protect against

          3  religious discrimination. Let's set forth on a right

          4  foot here for everyone in the room, let's be on the

          5  same page as the administration, I am sure the

          6  Administration is against any kind of

          7  discrimination, including religious discrimination,

          8  correct?

          9                 MR. CROWELL: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         11                 From that common ground, let's go

         12  forward. You alluded to the fact in your testimony

         13  that there may already be a structure within the

         14  City, whether it be by code section 8-107 which

         15  already exists and that language, okay? Plus the

         16  practices of the Citywide EEO and Human Rights,

         17  okay? There's a structure already in place that

         18  protects employees from religious discrimination; is

         19  that basically your contention?

         20                 MR. CROWELL: Yes, that's correct.

         21                 For instance, the Citywide EEO

         22  policy, which as a single policy embraces all

         23  applicable federal, state and local laws, including

         24  the Human Rights Law provision which I cited sets

         25  forth that reasonable accommodations can be made for
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          2  certain prohibited aspects of discrimination.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And as a

          4  representative of the Administration, are you

          5  currently satisfied with the way prior issues of

          6  possible religious discrimination has been handled

          7  by, whether it be this administration or

          8  administrations in the past?

          9                 MR. CROWELL: Yes. I can tell you that

         10  the overwhelming number of instances of

         11  accommodations have been able to be made. There have

         12  been times where accommodations were not determined

         13  to be made and issues have been litigated, and none

         14  of us can deny that there has been litigation.

         15                 At the same time, the Administration

         16  and it's agencies has always respected the outcome

         17  of that litigation and complied with it.

         18                 And, so, I believe that that is a

         19  process, and if the Administrative process can't

         20  satisfy the situation, then if it goes to the

         21  courts, the Administration of course will respect

         22  the judgment of courts.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Is there

         24  anything pending at this point, to your knowledge,

         25  regarding this type of issue?
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          2                 MR. CROWELL: To my knowledge, there

          3  is nothing in City government that is pending. I

          4  know that there have been some cases dealing with

          5  the State, Metropolitan Transit Authority,

          6  Transportation Authority, but the City cases had

          7  been resolved. There was an issue with the Office of

          8  Administrative Trials and Hearings and similarly a

          9  federal district court case that has been settled.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You had also

         11  mentioned the fact of language within the current

         12  proposed legislation, Intro. 577, again, not to

         13  obviously -- to allow religious, again, maybe

         14  headdress, but providing that the practice does not

         15  unduly interfere with the safety of the work

         16  environment. As possibly ambiguous as that is, how

         17  important to the Administration is the safety of the

         18  employee themselves if they have to alter their

         19  uniform, or the safety of others? How important is

         20  the safety aspect?

         21                 MR. CROWELL: I think it should come

         22  as no surprise that the City take worker safety

         23  extremely seriously and that certainly is a factor

         24  when looking at whether a reasonable accommodation

         25  is made. That's a standard of reasonableness, and
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          2  whether an undue hardship would result.

          3                 For instance, if something, if an

          4  item of clothing were somehow to impair the

          5  sanitation worker from doing their job, something,

          6  for instance, that could get caught in one of the

          7  mechanisms on the truck, you'd want to be very

          8  cognizant not to put the worker in danger in that

          9  respect.

         10                 Similarly, in other workplaces, the

         11  Department of Correction, for instance, things like

         12  that where that potential could arise.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Council Member Weprin.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes. Mr.

         17  Crowell, thank you. And I gather from your testimony

         18  that you feel that current law covers some of the

         19  problems that have arisen. Except I just want to

         20  point out, and there will be extensive testimony and

         21  if you can stay for the testimony, we'd love to have

         22  you. If not, we'd be glad to get you copies of all

         23  the testimony that will follow regarding this issue.

         24                 But specifically you pointed out

         25  reasonable accommodation, they wanted to leave that
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          2  in the discretion of the agency and not up to the

          3  individual religious practitioner.

          4                 I have a problem with that. And the

          5  problem I have with that, we're going to hear from a

          6  number of members from the Sikh community and other

          7  communities, is that there was a particular example

          8  that's currently in litigation right now involving

          9  the MTA, and you may be familiar with it, where the

         10  MTA at first said that they will not accept Turbans

         11  at all, that it violated their uniform policy. Then

         12  after litigation started and an uproar started in

         13  the Sikh community and other places, they decided,

         14  okay, we'll allow you to wear a Turban, but we'll

         15  make what we consider a reasonable accommodation,

         16  with is to have an MTA logo on the Turban.

         17                 The problem with that, of course, is

         18  the people that are making that accommodation do not

         19  necessarily understand the religious implications

         20  and requirements of the Turban, that a Turban is

         21  tied each and every day in a particular way. It's

         22  not something that's fixed exactly the same way all

         23  the time, and in one particular case the employee

         24  refused to wear the MTA logo because he was

         25  embarrassed. He thought it was a desecration of his
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          2  particular religion.

          3                 I am a member of the Jewish faith. I

          4  am not a member of the Sikh faith. So, I would not

          5  put myself in a position to tell a member of the

          6  Sikh faith what does or does not violate their

          7  religion any more than I would be, you know, in a

          8  position to tell a member of the Muslim faith or the

          9  Christian faith, Buddist faith or anybody else what

         10  is or is not in violation of their religion.

         11                 I think it should be up to the

         12  religious practitioner to determine what violates

         13  his or her religion.

         14                 I know in my own faith, the Jewish

         15  faith, there are different branches of Judaism and

         16  what one particular person of the Jewish faith

         17  considers his religious beliefs and requirements is

         18  not necessarily the same as another member.

         19                 We have members of the Orthodox sect,

         20  the conservative sect the reform sect, and I'm not

         21  preaching whether one particular sect is better than

         22  the other or, you know, I can't tell a fellow member

         23  of the Jewish faith that, you know, what I do is

         24  what he should do or vice versa. So, that's where I

         25  have a problem, and that's why I think the language
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          2  in my particular bill covers that because it does

          3  provide for reasonable accommodation, but it should

          4  really be at the discretion of the religious

          5  practitioner to determine what is or is not part of

          6  his faith or acceptable to his particular faith.

          7  That's one point.

          8                 The second point, in response to one

          9  of your comments was, you know, the danger of

         10  allowing someone to have a racist comment or an

         11  anti-abortion button on their property and say that

         12  that's part of their religious requirements.

         13                 Well, you know, I think it's pretty

         14  clear, and I think it's a pretty stretch of the

         15  imagination that I don't know, you know, even if

         16  you're an Orthodox Catholic and you feel very

         17  strongly against abortion, I don't think if you

         18  asked the Pope he would say that there's a

         19  requirement of the religion to wear any kind of

         20  abortion paraphernalia. And I know the Pope is

         21  obviously a leader of the Catholic faith, and would

         22  speak for the Catholic faith in that regard.

         23                 I would think the same thing would

         24  apply to other religions. I think you have to

         25  distinguish between a religious item that is really
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          2  integral to the part of the faith of the

          3  practitioner, whether it be, you know, a Muslim head

          4  scarf for a woman or a Turban for a Sikh or a

          5  Hasidic garb for a Hasidic Jew. I think it's

          6  imperative, and that's why I think I don't think

          7  you'll see an abused situation. I think it's pretty

          8  clear to define. And I think the litigation that you

          9  feared does not arise so much in that discretion as

         10  when you have an employer or a uniformed agency

         11  telling a particular religious practitioner of a

         12  different religion how to practice his or her

         13  religion.

         14                 MR. CROWELL: I'll briefly respond to

         15  both your points.

         16                 Your first point, I think that the

         17  existing processes do provide for obviously an

         18  opportunity, and I bring it up in my testimony, for

         19  an interaction between the City employee who is

         20  trying to seek a reasonable accommodation and to

         21  flesh out issues that may be of concern about how to

         22  come about reaching that accommodation concerning

         23  whether or not something is integral to one's faith

         24  in terms of the garb that they seek to wear, et

         25  cetera.
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          2                 Part of that would seem that there's

          3  obviously a need for uniform, to be as close to

          4  maintaining a uniformity in the appearance of

          5  certain members of the City workforce, and I think

          6  that through the existing mechanism that's in place

          7  to reach compromises to see what is acceptable

          8  within one's religion, and acceptable also to the

          9  City, is the best mechanism, rather than having

         10  someone make the determination outright that, well,

         11  this is not acceptable to me because it would

         12  violate the tenets of my religion.

         13                 I think your second point actually

         14  speaks to this. The bill is premised on the

         15  understanding that it is within the individual's

         16  discretion to determine what is or what is not

         17  required of the religion. And what you're saying is

         18  that perhaps for instance a very religious, an

         19  Orthodox Catholic police officer who may be somehow

         20  involved with controlling a protest in front of an

         21  abortion clinic, and he may be pro-life in his

         22  religious beliefs requiring to take a pro-life

         23  stance. For instance, they may wear something that

         24  says that and they may have whatever it may be, a

         25  cross, something, and I guess you would agree that
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          2  while you would say that's not integral to the

          3  religion, perhaps they would, and the bill is

          4  premised on that.

          5                 So, your second point sort of is

          6  turned on its head, if --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: You're

          8  certainly not saying that somebody shouldn't be

          9  allowed to wear a cross --

         10                 MR. CROWELL: No. I'm talking about

         11  something they would pin on their jacket that could

         12  represent something and could take a pro-life

         13  position.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I'm

         15  distinguishing between a religious garment or

         16  something as part of their religion and a protest.

         17                 I mean, someone could be, you know, a

         18  gay American and, you know, practice their sexuality

         19  the way they want to practice. It doesn't mean they

         20  have to have a protest button or, you know, equal

         21  rights button as part of the uniform.

         22                 MR. CROWELL: Right. But homosexuality

         23  is not a religious belief. It's not a religion.

         24                 But what we're saying here is that,

         25  you know, one could determine, someone who may be a
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          2  gay American, as you said, they could say it's a

          3  religion. They would say, you know what? I belong to

          4  the Gay-American Religion, and therefore I'm going

          5  to wear a rainbow flag on my uniform and you can't

          6  stop me because that's my religion. And that's what

          7  the bill is premised on.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, I think

          9  that's a big stretch.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: But this is within the

         11  ambit of what we're discussing. Therefore, what

         12  we're saying is that the contest of the reasonable

         13  accommodation, the interaction between the employees

         14  seeking the accommodation on the one hand, and the

         15  government administrator who obviously needs to take

         16  all cultural sensitivities into account, obviously

         17  make the proper inquiries of authorities on the

         18  religion that may be reviewed in terms of that

         19  employee's request. That's all, I think, a very

         20  important step and actually very deliberative. There

         21  is a need of deliberative process, which I think

         22  actually produces the best result. And I think that

         23  in the cases that the City has been involved in,

         24  certainly with the Turban issue at PD, I think that

         25  was, the settlements that were ultimately reached,
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          2  or the resolutions of the cases I think worked

          3  because at the end of the day there was a compromise

          4  reached in terms of the decisions made.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I think we

          6  have some members of the Sikh community that dispute

          7  that, and I think we're going to be hearing from

          8  them shortly.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Weprin.

         13                 Thank you very much. Mr. Crowell,

         14  thank you very much for your time and testimony

         15  today.

         16                 Our next panel, a panel of two, and

         17  please, and this goes for the entire rest of the

         18  hearing, if I mispronounce your name, please forgive

         19  me. Kevin Harrington and Amric Singh Rathour. Please

         20  step forward.

         21                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         22  being here today. Just please state your name for

         23  the record today and give your testimony.

         24                 MR. RATHOUR: Okay. My name is Amric

         25  Singh Rathour. I am a Traffic Enforcement Agent in
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          2  the New York City Police Department.

          3                 On August 27th, 2001, I was

          4  wrongfully terminated from my employment as a

          5  Traffic Enforcement Officer of the New York City

          6  Police Department. I was fired because I refused to

          7  give up my right as an American to practice my

          8  religion Sikh.

          9                 When I joined the Police Department,

         10  they told that I was qualified to serve, but that I

         11  would not be allowed to serve until I removed my

         12  turban and trimmed my beard.

         13                 I told NYPD that removing my turban

         14  and cutting my hair would violate my beliefs as a

         15  Sikh, but still they insisted that I remove by

         16  turban and trim my beard.

         17                 During my eight weeks training period

         18  as a New York City Police Department Officer, my

         19  supervisor harassed and punished me, and even

         20  threatened to fire me if I did not submit to their

         21  demands that I would remove my turban and my beard.

         22                 At one point I was left in a

         23  classroom alone for hours as a punishment for

         24  refusing to remove my turban. I felt like I was

         25  being segregated from the rest of my fellow
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          2  officers, not because I could not do my job, but

          3  because of my religious beliefs. But still I refused

          4  to remove my turban and cut my hair, and because of

          5  this refusal I was fired on March 4th of 2004.

          6                 I, along with the Sikh Coalition,

          7  filed a federal lawsuit against the NYPD for firing

          8  me because I refused to give up my religious

          9  beliefs.

         10                 At the time, I filed my lawsuit in

         11  March of 2002, fellow turban Sikhs were serving and

         12  dying with American troops in the mountains of

         13  Afghanistan as part of the British Army.

         14                 At the time I filed my lawsuit, there

         15  were police officers serving as many countries all

         16  over the world, and, yet, here in New York City, the

         17  most wonderful diversified city in the world, Sikhs

         18  were being denied the right to serve as a police

         19  officer.

         20                 It seemed wrong to me that a person

         21  like me, a man who was born and raised in Queens,

         22  could not direct traffic in New York City, just

         23  because I wear a turban, which is my right as an

         24  American.

         25                 Unfortunately, the City Human Right
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          2  Commission, in a case separate from mine, the case

          3  of Jasjit Singh Jaggi ruled after years of

          4  navigation and wasting City's resources that Sikhs

          5  could serve as a Traffic Enforcement Agent in the

          6  NYPD while wearing a turban and beard.

          7                 My fight with the NYPD was much

          8  larger than one single case of discrimination. What

          9  was at stake was the guaranteed right to every Sikh

         10  and indeed every American who has an equal

         11  employment opportunity without discrimination on the

         12  basis of his or her religious beliefs.

         13                 That issue is still at stake today.

         14  It is time for the City Council to pass a law that

         15  will send a clear message to every uniformed City

         16  agency, not just to NYPD, that its employees should

         17  be judged upon the basis of their ability to do

         18  their job and not their appearance.

         19                 The bill before you today does that.

         20  I support it wholeheartedly and ask that you make it

         21  the law of the City.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MR. HARRINGTON: Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Kevin Harrington. I'm associated with the

         25  Sikh Coalition and the Transport Workers Union, and
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          2  because of my association with those two groups, I

          3  still work for the New York City Transit Authority.

          4                 I have been working for the New York

          5  City Transit Authority for over 24 years. I was

          6  hired with my turban on. I have been a train

          7  operator for 21 years, and I was promoted to that

          8  position with my turban on.

          9                 At that time, my co-workers and my

         10  supervisors felt that my turban was just part of the

         11  multi-cultural diversity that we find in New York

         12  and that it was completely acceptable.

         13                 On 9/11, I helped over 400 people

         14  evacuate from my train at the Wall Street station

         15  after backing it out of the Fulton Street station as

         16  the first building fell. I evacuated the people up

         17  into the street while the second building fell, and

         18  that station became full of debris. No one ever

         19  contended or had any problem identifying me as a

         20  train operator. Many of these people I meet today,

         21  the women hug me and men shake my hand when I meet

         22  them at my station in Uttica Avenue in Brooklyn. The

         23  only one who had any problem identifying me as a

         24  train operator was my employer, the New York City

         25  Transit Authority, the Metropolitan Transit
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          2  Authority, they're the only ones who ever questioned

          3  it, and this is quite recent.

          4                 June 3rd last year I was called to

          5  the offices of the director of the number 4

          6  Lexington Avenue Express, Mr. Bohanan. And he was

          7  told that I could no longer work in public view.

          8  That I would be segregated from the rest of my

          9  co-workers, unilaterally by their decision, and that

         10  I would no longer be allowed to work in my paying

         11  job because I wore a turban.

         12                 He told me if I continue to wear my

         13  turban, I could no longer work any regular job and I

         14  was to be subject to be sent where they wanted.

         15                 This whole process was overseen by

         16  the MTA's Office of Equal Opportunity, and there are

         17  other civil rights agencies, they participated in

         18  this process, and they were the ones that helped

         19  make this decision that I should be segregated from

         20  the rest of my co-workers because of my religion.

         21                 A few days later, because of the

         22  overwhelming press campaign that was conducted and

         23  the outcry from New Yorkers, the Transit Authority

         24  backed away from its position and said that I could

         25  work with my turban.
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          2                 A few weeks later the President of

          3  the New York City, the Metropolitan Transit

          4  Authority, Lawrence Reuter, wrote a letter to the

          5  President of the Union, Roger Toussaint, and he told

          6  Roger Toussaint that any person who had sufficient

          7  seniority would have to pick a job in the yard and

          8  not be offered a job where he could be seen in the

          9  public. The only person who fit that description was

         10  me, and he threatened that I would be fired if I did

         11  not follow his order to pick a job in the yard.

         12                 New York City's Transit Authority's

         13  internal agencies refused to protect me from

         14  discrimination, and the Sikh Coalition had to pick

         15  up my case.

         16                 Later on, the Department of Justice,

         17  seeing that there was nobody within the New York

         18  City Transit Authority or the Metropolitan Transit

         19  Authority who would protect my religious rights,

         20  came forward to pick up my case.

         21                 The Department of Justice did an

         22  investigation and found over 200 instances in a few

         23  days of people not wearing the Transit Authority

         24  hat.

         25                 As a matter of fact, Transit
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          2  Authorities are not required to wear their uniform

          3  hat.

          4                 Later on the Transit Authority

          5  insisted that I wear a patch on my turban. They

          6  insisted that I turn my religious symbol into an

          7  advertising venue for their corporation, and that is

          8  one of the reasons why the Justice Department joined

          9  the Sikh Coalition and me in this lawsuit.

         10                 My personal experience is that most

         11  of my co-workers don't wear the hat. They wear

         12  Yankees's hats, Mets's caps and there are even a

         13  supervisor and emergency response team who wore a

         14  cowboy hat.

         15                 So, the Transit Authority never had

         16  any problem with me wearing my turban until after

         17  9/11.

         18                 After 9/11, a lot of Sikhs and

         19  Muslims and Rastafarians and other people who wear

         20  religious head covering began to have to endure

         21  reactionary violence and job discrimination, public

         22  daunting. I believe my employer's new-found

         23  determination to brand Muslim and Sikh's headdress

         24  to be another manifestation of discrimination that

         25  has scarred our City since that day.
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          2                 I also believe that the rules of the

          3  New York City Transit Authority reflect a certain

          4  type of religious thinking, which is a Christian

          5  thinking, I believe, is that what you wear doesn't

          6  matter. But to other religions, Sikhs, Jewish

          7  people, Muslims, what you wear matters and the rules

          8  should reflect that. They shouldn't reflect the

          9  religious thinking of only one religion.

         10                 The Transit Authority, in fact

         11  setting itself up as a religious authority is

         12  attempting to make me accept a Christian idea that

         13  what I wear does not matter.

         14                 The MTA is not a religious authority,

         15  as Councilman Weprin has said. It's not a religious

         16  authority for any religion.

         17                 I believe that the Mayor's arguments

         18  that -- would act as a further deterrent for

         19  religious minorities to apply for jobs in the City

         20  of New York. Sikhs are under-represented. I may have

         21  to point out to you, there are over 20 American

         22  Sikhs in New York City. I am the only one who works

         23  for a corporation. The vast majority of Sikhs,

         24  because of discrimination, are forced to seek

         25  self-employment if they want to maintain their
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          2  religion. We don't have the opportunity to get jobs

          3  because discrimination is so severe. And this type

          4  of thinking that was just presented by the attorney

          5  for the Mayor's Office will further discourage

          6  people from putting forward large amounts of money

          7  to get a City job.

          8                 You have to pay 50 or 60 dollars now

          9  to get a job as a train operator in the City of New

         10  York. Who is going to put that forward when they see

         11  how Sikhs are treated at the Transit Authority now?

         12  Most people are not crazy. He said that Sikhs and

         13  other religious minorities have the right to

         14  litigation. Most people don't have the money to go

         15  for litigation. They have to feed their families.

         16  They don't have time to get involved in that. It's a

         17  momentary decision, it's a decision right there, and

         18  most of the time a lot of people decide to feed

         19  their family. They don't have any other options.

         20                 He says that we should allow the City

         21  agencies to decide. How many years did it take for

         22  the City agencies to allow Jewish people to be off

         23  on the Sabbath? It took decades. Jewish people were

         24  in New York City since the beginning. Jewish people

         25  were not given the right to have Sabbaths until the
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          2  '70s. It took two centuries. We're not going to

          3  wait that long. And I'd like to say that we should

          4  all support this bill, and stand up for this bill,

          5  because this bill means that there will be no

          6  religious test, no religious requirements for jobs

          7  in the City of New York.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         10  gentlemen. I have a couple of questions.

         11                 First for Mr. Rathour. I thank you

         12  for being here, your time and testimony. How many

         13  years, if you are on the job at NYPD, how many years

         14  on the job?

         15                 MR. RATHOUR: I have been working

         16  there for one year now.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: One.

         18                 MR. RATHOUR: Over. Over one.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. And what

         20  is your role?

         21                 MR. RATHOUR: I am a New York City

         22  Police Department Traffic Agent, that's directing

         23  traffic, sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And currently

         25  you are employed by NYPD?

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 MR. RATHOUR: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: So your

          4  situation has been rectified so-to-speak, correct?

          5                 MR. RATHOUR: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

          7                 Mr. Harrington, you mentioned you

          8  were 21 years as a train operator?

          9                 MR. HARRINGTON: That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Is your status

         11  as far as your issue with the MTA resolved?

         12                 MR. HARRINGTON: Well, they're still

         13  making me wear the MTA logo on my turban. Something

         14  that they didn't make me do for the first 23 years

         15  of my employment.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: But you are

         17  still currently employed by --

         18                 MR. HARRINGTON: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         20                 You mentioned that Sikhs have a

         21  problem even getting jobs, you might have alluded

         22  to, and correct me if I'm wrong, in the private

         23  sector. You're saying Sikhs have a problem getting a

         24  job anywhere?

         25                 MR. HARRINGTON: That's correct.
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          2  That's correct.

          3                 Sikhs are -- the turban is seen as

          4  something that a lot of people don't understand, or

          5  they don't understand the Sikh community, or they

          6  misidentify us as another community.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And do you see,

          8  because you heard the Administration say that

          9  currently there is no problem right now, the

         10  structure is in place to deal with these kind of

         11  issues, and currently right now there is nothing

         12  even pending in the City as far as a dispute. Do you

         13  think, because you had mentioned that in the past,

         14  and you brought up the religious faith, the Jewish

         15  faith, obviously observance of the Sabbath took a

         16  long time, now-a-days, currently today, do you think

         17  that there still remains a problem with the City

         18  agencies and this issue of religious --

         19                 MR. HARRINGTON: All I can say is that

         20  my own experience at the Transit Authority is that

         21  when I won the right to wear the turban, they also

         22  allowed Rastafarians and Muslim women to wear their

         23  head covering. And lots of more people began to wear

         24  those coverings.

         25                 These were people who were previously
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          2  intimidated by the Transit Authority's policy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Again, currently

          4  do you agree with the City's Administration answer

          5  or statement that nothing currently exists right now

          6  in the City level, with City agencies, as for Intro.

          7  577?

          8                 We're dealing today with a proposed

          9  piece of legislation that deals with City agencies

         10  and the problem of prohibiting religious gear, or

         11  religious garments?

         12                 MR. HARRINGTON: Well, I think you can

         13  judge that by how many Sikhs apply for City jobs,

         14  they just don't. Because the policy of the Transit

         15  Authority, the policy they are conducting towards

         16  enrixing rateur (phonetic), all acts as a buffer to

         17  keep people from applying. If you don't apply, you

         18  don't have a problem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Again, I just

         20  want to make sure. The Administration made a

         21  statement that there is no issue as of today with

         22  City employees, whether it be Sikh or otherwise; do

         23  you agree or not?

         24                 MR. HARRINGTON: I disagree. Your

         25  brother had to make radical changes in his religious
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          2  practice in order to become a policeman, right?

          3                 MR. RATHOUR: Yes. My personal

          4  experience is that it is partially because of

          5  government agencies in the City, they make it harder

          6  for people with religious garments on to be accepted

          7  within -- if the City faith doesn't take you, how is

          8  private organizations going to take you? So, we

          9  choose to go to the private sector and to own our

         10  own businesses just for that fact. It's harder for a

         11  Sikh. Even though I'm born and raised in the United

         12  States, I used to consider myself a citizen of this

         13  country, now, you know, because of this religious

         14  discrimination, you know, I consider myself a second

         15  citizen.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         17                 Gentlemen, I want to thank you for

         18  being here today, for taking the time and your

         19  testimony.

         20                 MR. HARRINGTON: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Our next panel, Amardeep Singh and

         24  Diane Simon. And, again, in the interest of getting

         25  to everyone who had signed up, we are going to
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          2  incorporate a two-minute rule, that will allow us to

          3  give questions and a question and answer period.

          4                 I want to thank this panel for being

          5  here today. Please state your name for the record

          6  and give your association and testimony, please.

          7                 MR. SINGH: Hello. My name is Amardeep

          8  Singh. I'm Legal Director of the Sikh Coalition.

          9                 Before I begin the substance of my

         10  remarks, I'd like to congratulate my fellow Sikhs on

         11  the birthday this week of the founder of our

         12  religion, Guru Nanak Dev Ji. Guru Nanak Dev Ji

         13  founded our religion, the Sikh religion, over 500

         14  years ago in South Asia.

         15                 In a world that was ridden at the

         16  time with caste and gender discrimination, Guru

         17  Nanak Dev Ji boldly declared 177 years before

         18  America's Declaration of Independence that all men

         19  and women are equal regardless of color or caste. He

         20  fearlessly founded a community in which women and

         21  people of formerly low castes took on leadership

         22  roles, leading Sikhs in prayer in our houses of

         23  worship, in community gatherings, and on the

         24  battlefield.

         25                 It is with great love and remembrance
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          2  of Guru Nanak Dev Ji's legacy that I thank the man

          3  who introduced the bill that we are considering

          4  today by Council Member David Weprin.

          5                 I think now is the time for me to

          6  play my job as a lawyer, because clearly the City's

          7  lawyer left out a lot of details in his description

          8  of the law, and as you'll see, and as any lawyer

          9  will tell you, the real devil is in the details.

         10                 As a lawyer who has litigated cases

         11  of discrimination against Sikh Americans by the NYPD

         12  and the MTA, I'd like to describe the gaps in the

         13  law that the City Uniform Anti-Discrimination Act

         14  address.

         15                 In short, when confronted by an order

         16  by a City agency to remove one's turban or another

         17  article of faith, such as a yarmulke or hijab, a

         18  victim has three primary legal remedies. First, a

         19  victim may file a claim alleging a violation of

         20  Title 7 of the federal Civil Rights Act in 1964.

         21                 Second, a victim may file a claim

         22  alleging a violation of article 15 of New York

         23  State's Executive Law better known as the Human

         24  Rights Law.

         25                 Finally, a victim may file a claim
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          2  alleging a violation of Article 8 with the New York

          3  City Administrative Code, better known as the New

          4  York City Human Rights Law.

          5                 Now, unfortunately for a Sikh, Muslim

          6  or Jew who wears religious garb as part of their

          7  sacred obligation, none of these causes of action

          8  sufficiently ensures that they will not be forced to

          9  make the heart-rendering decision to choose between

         10  their faith and their job.

         11                 First let me address federal law.

         12  Title 7 --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Singh?

         14                 MR. SINGH: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: If I may, again,

         16  we want to get to everyone. You have two minutes. If

         17  you want to sum up in some way?

         18                 MR. SINGH: No, I can't sum up. I

         19  really need to -- I mean, we waited nine months for

         20  this hearing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         22                 MR. SINGH: And as a lawyer, this

         23  community has worked so hard for this bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         25                 MR. SINGH: As a lawyer, I need to
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          2  explain to you the gaps of the law, because there

          3  are clear gaps in the law, and the points that the

          4  City's representative made are completely

          5  fallacious. And you, following your constitutional

          6  duty to properly understand the law, have been

          7  completely misled by this man.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. Mr. Singh,

          9  I'm sure we don't want to show any disrespect to

         10  others that signed up for today, so with respect to

         11  those people who want to also testify and to get to

         12  them as well with the question/answer period, do you

         13  have your written testimony?

         14                 MR. SINGH: I do have my written

         15  testimony.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Your written

         17  testimony will be made part of the record.

         18                 (Unidentified speaker from the

         19  audience is not using the microphone.)

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: If that is true,

         21  please come forward and I will take your name off

         22  the testimony list and I will add your time to his,

         23  if that's the case. Anybody wishing to do so, if you

         24  want we'll take your name. That's not a problem.

         25                 Okay, just one second. Anybody who
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          2  wants to yield their time to the right of the podium

          3  here, we'll take your name and that's not a problem.

          4                 Mr. Singh, I appreciate it. Just bear

          5  with me one moment.

          6                 Mr. Singh?

          7                 MR. SINGH: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You can

          9  continue.

         10                 MR. SINGH: Okay. First let me address

         11  federal law. The Title 7 of the federal Civil Rights

         12  Act of 1964 states that unless a religious practice

         13  will cause an undue hardship on the conduct of an

         14  employer's business, an employer must allow an

         15  employee to practice his or her religion in the

         16  workplace.

         17                 Of course, all this raises a

         18  question, how do you define undue hardship? So,

         19  1977, the US Supreme Court in Transworld Airlines v.

         20  Hardison, interpreted undue hardship to mean any

         21  accommodation that would impose more than a de

         22  minimis cost on the employer.

         23                 In other words, if a religious

         24  accommodation would create any additional minimal

         25  cost or difficulty for the employer, the religious
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          2  employee is out of luck.

          3                 As a result, many employers,

          4  including the City's employers, feel empowered to

          5  make little or no effort to accommodate religious

          6  workers.

          7                 Now, getting to our City's Human

          8  Rights Law, unfortunately, the cause of action in

          9  the City is equally weak for the victim of religious

         10  discrimination. The City's Human Rights Commission

         11  had adopted the federal interpretation of what

         12  constitutes an undue hardship.

         13                 In Jaggi v. New York City Police

         14  Department, the City Human Rights Commission

         15  involving a Sikh, Jasjit Jaggi, who wanted to serve

         16  as an NYPD officer with his turban on, directly

         17  cited the federal standard as articulating an

         18  employer's obligation to make a religious

         19  accommodation.

         20                 In other words, as at the federal

         21  law, as far as the City's law is concerned, City

         22  employers only have to make a de minimis, and that's

         23  the legal language, de minimis obligation to

         24  accommodate a religious practice on the job.

         25                 Now, fortunately in the Jaggi case,
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          2  the City Human Rights Commission held that allowing

          3  a Sikh NYPD Traffic Enforcement Agent to wear a

          4  turban would not constitute more than a de minimis

          5  cost, one can imagine many scenarios where another

          6  judge or another decision-maker would feel empowered

          7  to reject a request for religious accommodation

          8  based on what is by definition, by definition, a

          9  minimal standard of protection.

         10                 Now, though federal and City law

         11  provide weak relief for religious employees, State

         12  law provides greater protection. And I'll sum it up

         13  here, basically State law defines undue hardship as

         14  a significant difficulty or expense.

         15                 So, in other words, the employer must

         16  accommodate under State law an employees religious

         17  practice, unless it would cause a significant

         18  difficulty or expense. This is more protective than

         19  the federal or the City de minimis standard.

         20                 Of course, you might ask that if

         21  state law provides better relief than federal or

         22  City law, why amend New York City's administrative

         23  code now? The reason we're asking you to pass this

         24  law is because residents of this City deserve a

         25  human rights law that places more than a minimal
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          2  obligation on City uniform agencies to accommodate

          3  religious garb. The City's law should be as strong,

          4  if not stronger than State law. City residents

          5  deserve a truly viable cause of action in the City's

          6  Human Rights Commission.

          7                 Now, finally, about the language of

          8  the bill. When the bill was first introduced almost

          9  ten months ago, in February 2005, its language

         10  required City uniform agencies to accommodate

         11  religious practices, unless the practice would,

         12  quote, unduly interfere with the safety of the work

         13  environment. That language stands today.

         14                 Now after ten months of consideration

         15  and after consultation with lawyers and policy

         16  experts from some of our newer coalition members,

         17  like the American Jewish Committee, the New York

         18  Civil Liberties Union, and the Anti-Defamation

         19  League, I'm now calling upon this Committee to

         20  amend, to consider amending the language of the

         21  proposed bill to state that a City employer must

         22  accommodate that wearing a religious garb or

         23  customarily distinctive facial hair, unless the

         24  agency's refusal to do so "is related to a safety

         25  reason only that is in furtherance of a compelling
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          2  governmental interest; and (B) is a least

          3  restrictive means of furthering that compelling

          4  interest."

          5                 The reason our Coalition of over 50

          6  organizations is calling for this change is because

          7  the compelling governmental interest standard is a

          8  long standing federal constitutional standard that

          9  provides sufficient protection for religious garb in

         10  the workplace.

         11                 At present, and this is important to

         12  consider, so you guys know you're not doing anything

         13  radical or out of hand, at present the compelling

         14  governmental interest standard is the standard, the

         15  federal standard for federal agency employees who

         16  request a religious accommodation. Since this

         17  standard has worked for the federal government for

         18  11 years now, and if it works for the federal

         19  government, I believe it would work for the City of

         20  New York.

         21                 At the end of the day the power is in

         22  your hands to ensure that our City uniformed

         23  agencies reflect the actual diversity on our streets

         24  and in our neighborhoods.

         25                 I urge you to pass Intro. 577 with
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          2  the amendments I've just described. New York City

          3  should be a place where City workers are judged on

          4  their job performance, not their religious attire.

          5                 I thank you for this opportunity to

          6  engage you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. Thank

          8  you, Mr. Singh.

          9                 Mr. Singh, it would be helpful to

         10  have a copy of your testimony. If at some point you

         11  could forward it to the Committee, we would

         12  appreciate it.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 DR. STEINMAN: Hello, everyone. I'm

         15  Diane Steinman, and I'm going to take time today,

         16  it's very important to me and to our organization,

         17  and to many organizations in the Jewish community to

         18  be here today, because we want to make it clear that

         19  although the Sikh community has been very directly

         20  affected recently, in fact the principle that's

         21  being defended and furthered by this bill, is really

         22  a fundamental American principle having to do with

         23  freedom, the constitutionally guaranteed freedom of

         24  expression of free expression of religion.

         25                 And it's this principle, if the City
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          2  of New York stands now as a beacon in a horribly

          3  polarized world, a world that is polarized along

          4  religious lines, we are a counter-example to this

          5  terrible trend. And what this law would do is to

          6  make it explicit that this City guarantees to its

          7  City workers the right to express their religious

          8  beliefs and not have to choose between serving the

          9  City in its agencies and practicing their religion,

         10  and it's that principle which is articulated and

         11  expressed.

         12                 And there are many other communities

         13  whose religious expression is a visible one. And we

         14  would recommend a broadening of the language so that

         15  any -- so that visible religious expression is

         16  covered across the borders of religion explicitly,

         17  and I've included our recommendations for broadening

         18  the language so that we're not just talking about

         19  head gear, and we're not just talking about facial

         20  hair. I'll just take a minute to tell you what we

         21  recommend. That Intro. 577 explicitly allow the

         22  wearing of religious garb or items, including but

         23  not limited to wearing traditional religious

         24  headwear, as in the current bill, and wearing items

         25  with religious significance.
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          2                 We would also recommend a broadening

          3  of the language about facial hair to broaden it to

          4  include other grooming choices so that we would like

          5  to include grooming practices associated with a

          6  faith tradition, including, but not limited to,

          7  facial hair or particular hair style.

          8                 Again, thank you for giving me this

          9  time, and for allowing me to express the American

         10  Jewish Committee's fundamental partnership with all

         11  communities of faith in this City and indeed this

         12  country.

         13                 It is what makes America great. It is

         14  what makes New York great. And we have the

         15  opportunity to make that right and that privilege

         16  firmer.

         17                 Thank you for listening.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         19  Steinman.

         20                 Ms. Steinman, your suggestions will

         21  be taken under consideration. Thank you, Ms.

         22  Steinman, and Mr. Singh. Thank you very much for

         23  your time and testimony today.

         24                 DR. STEINMAN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: At this point I
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          2  will turn it over to Council Member Weprin.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes, I just

          4  want to thank the panelists for their leadership in

          5  this area, particularly Mr. Singh, who has been,

          6  reached out to so many different communities, and as

          7  you can see by his testimony, his legal expertise

          8  has been very enlightening, and we will obviously

          9  welcome any language changes that he may make,

         10  obviously, but we certainly feel, or I certainly

         11  feel, as sponsor of the bill, that despite State

         12  law, City law should be stronger in this particular

         13  case, especially in light of the fact that as we

         14  heard from testimony that problems do exist, despite

         15  the State law.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Weprin.

         18                 Our next panel is a panel of three.

         19  We have Darlene Lawson, Mohammad Razvi and Sarah

         20  Sayeed. And I appreciate this panel and future

         21  panels to adhering to the two-minute rule so we can

         22  get to everyone. If you have written testimony, and

         23  you don't get to your total written testimony, it

         24  does become part of the record.

         25                 Thank you very much, panel. Just
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          2  please state your name and your affiliation and your

          3  testimony please.

          4                 MR. RAZVI: Thank you so much. My name

          5  is Mohammad Razvi. I am the Executive Director of

          6  Council of Peoples Organization, and on the Board of

          7  Directors for Almandi Foundation (phonetic), which

          8  is a mosque in Brooklyn. And my testimony basically

          9  is, first I wanted to start off with this survey.

         10  This is the surveys (sic) that was conducted with

         11  the Human Rights Commission and the Mayor's Office.

         12  Here's the results.

         13                 And as I turn the pages, this is

         14  really where I want to focus on, it turns out that

         15  after 9/11 discrimination against the South Asian

         16  and Muslims after 9/11 were so high, it was

         17  unbelievable.

         18                 And as these discriminations

         19  occurred, which are right in here, hundreds and

         20  hundreds of individuals did not seek help. And it

         21  turns out that over 83 percent of the individuals

         22  never sought help. And if you turn the pages in

         23  their testimony, on page two, 26 percent of those

         24  cases turned out to be employment discriminations,

         25  and that's where I really want to focus on, because
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          2  these were discriminations that were going on, and

          3  we're learning that from the census that over

          4  287,000 individuals are living in New York City,

          5  which is not to include individuals who are Green

          6  Card holders and other forms of Visas.

          7                 And page four, the recommendation

          8  which came about, that's the thing to look at

          9  because this was collaborative effort. On the bottom

         10  it states, the entrants of South Asians and Arabs

         11  and Muslims into public service positions should be

         12  one of the remedies and recommendations, such as

         13  firefighters, police and other government jobs.

         14  Seeing themselves represented will likely give

         15  community members more trust and connection to their

         16  government.

         17                 Now, this is a 28-page report and

         18  documented, which was reported and given out to the

         19  Mayor's Office, who they collaborated with the Human

         20  Rights Commission, but now they're telling us that

         21  they don't want to pass this bill. This is actually

         22  contradicting what they really should have done and

         23  what their recommendation is, because they're

         24  actually discriminating against these individuals

         25  again.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Razvi. Thank you.

          5                 MS. LAWSON: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Darlyne A. Lawson. I'm the Recording Secretary

          7  for Local 100 of the Transport Workers Union.

          8                 First I want to express our gratitude

          9  for allowing us to come and express our support, in

         10  terms of the Intro. 577 prior to reading this

         11  statement.

         12                 On behalf of our 38,000 members, TWU

         13  Local 100 is pleased to raise our voice in support

         14  of Intro. 577, the banning of religious head gear in

         15  a formed services is an offensive form of

         16  discrimination, one that has taken an additional

         17  importance in the wake of September 11th.

         18                 It cannot be justified on grounds of

         19  safety. Claims that the headwear bases the uniform

         20  are groundless. It is an insult to our traditions of

         21  pluralism and diversity. It violates the rights of

         22  some. It is therefore a threat to the rights of all.

         23                 Why is this initiative needed?

         24  Because public agencies too often give themselves

         25  the right to impose arbitrary decisions on the right
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          2  of citizens they are supposed to serve.

          3                 In Transit we have too much

          4  experience of this, including a banning of religious

          5  head gear.

          6                 Several years ago, four Muslim women,

          7  bus operators, were taken off the road for wearing

          8  kimars (phonetic). One of them had been operating a

          9  bus for 14 years with no problem until management

         10  suddenly invented a problem.

         11                 Unable to justify this policy in

         12  buses alone, the Transit Authority chose to defend

         13  the infensible by extending it into subways, as

         14  well.

         15                 As a consequence, Sikh train operator

         16  was reassigned for wearing a turban he had worn

         17  every day from the first day he was hired for more

         18  than two decades earlier. A two-day study by the

         19  federal Department of Justice, which was intervened

         20  in the case, found over 200 instances of operating

         21  personnel wearing non-uniformed head gear. In fact,

         22  it is commonplace. Only kimars and turbans are

         23  subject to TA scrutiny.

         24                 What is happening here is simple. The

         25  MTA is making things up as it goes along, without
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          2  regard to consequences, whether it is introducing

          3  new technology or properly staffing the system, or

          4  respecting the rights of employees, the TA

          5  exemplifies the arrogance of agencies that believe

          6  themselves above the concerns of the public and the

          7  elected bodies.

          8                 We need laws like initiative 577 to

          9  ensure that the rights of public employees are

         10  respected. Once made law, initiative 577 will reign

         11  in such abuses in City agencies. Regrettably when

         12  that day comes the Transit Authority will hold that

         13  as a State agency it is above local law.

         14                 Nonetheless, this initiative, while

         15  bringing relief to City employees, will also

         16  contribute to the pressure on TA to do the right

         17  thing. We welcome Intro. 577 and look forward to its

         18  enactment.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         21                 DR. SAYEED: Greetings of peace. Good

         22  afternoon. My name is Sarah Sayeed. I'm a Board

         23  member of Women in Islam, Incorporated, and the

         24  Muslim Consultant Network, which are both coalition

         25  partners. I'm reading this statement on behalf of
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          2  Aisha Al Adawiya, who is Executive Director of Women

          3  in Islam, Incorporated.

          4                 Women in Islam, Incorporated stands

          5  in solidarity with our coalition partners, in strong

          6  support of the Uniforms Anti-Discrimination Bill.

          7  Freedom of religious expression is a right of every

          8  New Yorker. In a diverse city like ours, there is no

          9  place for discrimination against employees based on

         10  religious attire and grooming practices.

         11                 Since 1992, Women In Islam,

         12  Incorporated has been an active grassroots advocate

         13  for human rights and social justice causes, both

         14  locally and abroad. We are dedicated to promoting

         15  tolerance and understanding between diverse

         16  communities. We believe that when City employees

         17  face discrimination, there is certainly loss for the

         18  employee, but there is also a loss for our City. New

         19  York loses the contribution of a hardworking and

         20  diverse workforce, who serve our City and enrich the

         21  workplace. City agencies lose the opportunity to

         22  model a workplace culture that respects and includes

         23  all minority groups.

         24                 Communities of color, including the

         25  Native American, African American and Latino
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          2  Communities, have historically endured all forms of

          3  discrimination. Currently, Arab, Muslim and South

          4  Asian communities are targeted. Civil rights and

          5  civil liberties are under extreme attack today and

          6  these communities are even more vulnerable because

          7  of their color, ethnicity, natural origin or

          8  religion.

          9                 Immigrants who responded to the call

         10  of "Give me your tired, your poor..." Did so in good

         11  faith, and with the expectation that our country

         12  would live up to its promise. Shamefully and sadly,

         13  those who practice minority faiths are being denied

         14  access not only to gainful employment but the very

         15  hope itself of the pursuit of happiness simply

         16  because they choose to follow the basis tenets of

         17  their religion.

         18                 New York City employees who have

         19  worked for years while observing their religious

         20  dress codes without incident should not only be

         21  allowed but encouraged to continue serving the

         22  public free of the threat of harassment.

         23                 If large government agencies such as

         24  the New York PD or the MTA are allowed to practice

         25  discrimination in the workplace, smaller employers
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          2  will also be embolden to behave in a similar manner.

          3  Our government has the responsibility to ensure that

          4  everyone is judged on their work performance and not

          5  their religious beliefs.

          6                 New York is probably the most diverse

          7  City in the world. That diversity is what makes it a

          8  great City, and should be reflected in all facets of

          9  City life, including non-discriminatory practices in

         10  the workplace.

         11                 New York City resources should be

         12  used to enhance the workplace, not to deny workers

         13  the right to practice certain aspects of their

         14  religion.

         15                 We are deeply indebted to the Sikh

         16  Coalition for its leadership in initiating and

         17  gathering support for this groundbreaking

         18  legislation, and to the City Council, and we hope

         19  that you, as members of the City Council will take a

         20  strong stand today and let it be known that as a

         21  City, that we, as a City, respect the rights of all

         22  New Yorkers to practice our religions freely.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 We would like to thank this panel for

          3  their time and testimony today. We look forward to

          4  being in touch on this Intro.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 Our next panel of two, Omar

          7  Mohammedi, please step forward. And Paramjeet Sammi.

          8                 Gentlemen, thank you for being here

          9  today. If you can just please state your name for

         10  the record, and pronounce it correctly.

         11                 MR. MOHAMMEDI: It's Omar Mohammedi.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Omar Mohammedi,

         13  that's an i.

         14                 MR. MOHAMMEDI: That's an i.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         16                 MR. MOHAMMEDI: Sorry.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Should have been

         18  a doctor.

         19                 Please state your name, and give your

         20  testimony, please.

         21                 MR. MOHAMMEDI: My name is Omar

         22  Mohammedi. I am a lawyer, practice in New York. I

         23  represent actually my client Stephanie Lewis. She is

         24  one of the victims, woman victims of discrimination

         25  against the MTA. We have the case now in Federal
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          2  Court.

          3                 I also am speaking on behalf of

          4  Muslim American Lawyers, Association of Muslim

          5  American Lawyers, and as well as Council of American

          6  Islamic Relations.

          7                 First I would like to mention

          8  something. I know that Amardeep went deep into legal

          9  analysis regarding this bill, I'm not going to do

         10  that, however, I would like to point out a few

         11  things.

         12                 One of the things that Special

         13  Counsel for the Mayor said is that this bill, if

         14  passed, will get us into expensive litigation. I

         15  disagree with that. I think where we are now, it's

         16  getting us in expensive litigation.

         17                 I believe that the problem is this

         18  here, I think it should be noted NYPD and MTA has

         19  extended significant resources litigating these

         20  cases, where they denied certain Muslims to wear

         21  religious garb in the workplace.

         22                 If this bill will pass, will prevent

         23  that very expensive litigation, and we'll not have

         24  to shift the burden of proof basically to the victim

         25  to explain their religious beliefs. And that's where
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          2  we are. We are in court trying to explain to the

          3  Defendants why this woman and why this Muslim woman,

          4  why this Sikh man, why they cannot wear what is

          5  imposed by the MTA.

          6                 And that in itself, it's put

          7  tremendous pressure in addition to discrimination,

          8  tremendous pressure on the victims to explain why,

          9  why they should be explaining why they have to wear

         10  religious garb. And that's something that we need to

         11  take into account.

         12                 All the things that we like to take

         13  into account, the establishment clause. We are in

         14  this litigation and we're trying to see how we can

         15  resolve the problem. I am not able to resolve the

         16  problem. One of the things is this, oh, we can come

         17  and show you what is professional to us, how we can

         18  ask you to put whatever the MTA logo on your turban,

         19  basically you are trying to get into the religion,

         20  the practice of religion when you are not supposed

         21  to as a State, as a federal or City agency. That's a

         22  violation of establishment clause. It's for the

         23  victim, it's for the operator to decide which

         24  garment they need to wear.

         25                 There is one also I wanted to mention
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          2  about another very important point is

          3  professionalism. What is professionalism? Which is

          4  the professional attire? And one of the things that

          5  come up in court, professional attire. Professional

          6  attire being a Sikh wearing the turban, that's not

          7  professional? We have lawyers in court that were

          8  wearing that, they were professional. What is

          9  professional attire? Is that Muslim women cannot

         10  wear the hijab as professional attire? I mean, if

         11  that's what you define as professional attire, is

         12  not professional attire, then you're violating the

         13  tenet of religious belief by getting into what is

         14  the definition of professional attire, and I don't

         15  think it's for the employer to decide that. It's for

         16  the law to decide that.

         17                 And thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Mohammedi. Thank you.

         20                 MR. SAMMI: Good afternoon,

         21  Councilman. My name is Paramjeet Sammi. I'm the

         22  Director of the South Asian Bar Association of New

         23  York. I know I have two minutes and I'll keep my

         24  remarks short.

         25                 I have my testimony in writing for
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          2  the Council as well.

          3                 New York City embraces its iconic

          4  status, the financial capital of the world, the Big

          5  Apple, the City that embodied American ideals of

          6  courage after the devastating terrorist attack. But

          7  most relevant today is its status as a gateway to

          8  the United States.

          9                 Indeed, New York is an immigrant

         10  city. From the 19th century, which saw great waves

         11  of Irish and Italian immigrants, to today, people

         12  from across the globe travel great distances to make

         13  New York their home. Along with their belongings,

         14  they bring their most personal of possessions, their

         15  religions.

         16                 Once here, they must all be afforded

         17  the rights and freedoms guaranteed by the

         18  Constitution. One such right, to be sure, a very

         19  right sought by those on the Mayflower, is the right

         20  to be free from undue discrimination and to protect

         21  those rights for the residents of this City.

         22                 Today this Council has heard from two

         23  victims of religious discrimination. The

         24  discrimination faced by them is unjustified. Their

         25  plight for redress is arduous but necessary. Today,
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          2  we do not ask the Council to make new law that is

          3  contrary to established principles of equality.

          4                 Rather, we ask the Council to enact a

          5  law that takes another vital step toward protecting

          6  and preserving fundamental principles of equality,

          7  which this country was founded.

          8                 This bill is in line with the

          9  historical protection of freedom of expression set

         10  forth in the U.S. Constitution. The First Amendment

         11  states the Congress shall make no law respecting

         12  this establishment of religion, or prohibiting the

         13  free exercise thereof. To be sure U.S. jurisprudence

         14  is replete with examples of redress granted by our

         15  courts to those who have been wrongfully subject to

         16  religious discrimination, such as the landmark case

         17  of Sherbert v. Verner, which applied the strict

         18  scrutiny standard in these cases.

         19                 My time is running out so I'll have

         20  to conclude, but before you today, Councilman and

         21  Counsel, is a bill that soundly echoes our highest

         22  court's jurisprudence. It protects our City

         23  employees from undue discrimination, based upon

         24  religion. However, it also protects the City.

         25                 Importantly, it provides for an
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          2  exception where the City's agencies' interest in

          3  safety is compelling, and its restriction is

          4  narrowly tailored.

          5                 Protection of the right of free

          6  exercise comes first and foremost, not from the

          7  courts but from the Legislature and councils, such

          8  as this one. Let this Council remain in the ranks of

          9  those Legislatures that have passed religious

         10  discrimination laws.

         11                 And I shall conclude in two

         12  sentences. It was perhaps best stated by Justice

         13  Potter Stewart of the Supreme Court when he said, I

         14  am convinced that no liberty is more essential to

         15  the continued vitality of a free society which our

         16  Constitution guarantees than is the religious

         17  liberty protected by the free exercise clause

         18  explicit in the First Amendment and embedded in the

         19  14th.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Sammi, thank

         22  you for summarizing your testimony. Thank you very

         23  much, gentlemen. Thank you very much for your time

         24  and testimony today.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 Our next panel is a panel of three.

          3  We have Linda Sarsour, Ariella Saperstein, and

          4  Stephanie D. Lewis. Please step forward.

          5                 Okay, so we have two out of three, so

          6  let's see who we have here. Just please state your

          7  name.

          8                 MS. SARSOUR: Linda Sarsour. Good

          9  afternoon, everyone. My name is Linda Sarsour, and

         10  I'm the Programs Coordinator of the Arab American

         11  Association of New York, which is a social service

         12  agency located in Bayridge, Brooklyn serving the

         13  Arab community in New York City.

         14                 As a devout Arab Muslim American,

         15  this bill not only affects the community I serve and

         16  represent, it affects me as a person.

         17                 Born and raised in Brooklyn, New

         18  York, one of the most diverse locations probably in

         19  the United States, I think it only makes sense that

         20  Intro. 577 is passed.

         21                 Ironically, yesterday I was at a

         22  workshop conducted by the U.S. Department of Justice

         23  and picked up a publication that says, "Look at the

         24  facts, not at the faces. Your guide to fair

         25  employment." And I think they hit the nail on the
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          2  head. It's about your qualifications, not about what

          3  you look like or what religious garb you are

          4  wearing.

          5                 Living in New York City or what we

          6  call "the melting pot," it is extremely important

          7  that employees of City agencies reflect the

          8  different communities for easier access to the many

          9  services that New York City provides.

         10                 I also don't believe that your

         11  religious garb will in any way interfere with your

         12  work performance. It's either you're equipped to do

         13  the job, or not.

         14                 I, or anyone in my community, should

         15  not be considered for employment based on my

         16  religious wear, which in my case is a religious

         17  hijab. I should be considered as an Arab Muslim, and

         18  most important, American woman who throughout my

         19  life went to New York City public schools, graduated

         20  from CUNY, has a heavy Brooklyn accent and

         21  impressive resume.

         22                 This bill also protects a very

         23  significant population of New York City, which

         24  primarily includes the Muslim Sikh and Jewish

         25  Communities.
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          2                 As the City Council and as the Mayor

          3  of New York City, you owe it to all the citizens to

          4  show them that we are all one, New York City will

          5  not tolerate and will penalize those who

          6  discriminate in any public or private sector.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MS. SAPERSTEIN: Good afternoon. I've

          9  tried to cut down my remarks, but you have the whole

         10  text in front of you, hopefully.

         11                 My name is Ariella Saperstein. I am

         12  the Assistant Director of the Anti-Defamation League

         13  in New York, 92-year-old civil rights and education

         14  organization dedicated to combatting anti-Semitism

         15  and discrimination of all kinds.

         16                 Religious employees often encounter

         17  conflict between employment obligations and their

         18  religious obligations.

         19                 Currently uniformed New York City

         20  employees who are religious and require to wear

         21  religious garb based on their sincerely held

         22  religious beliefs, have limited legal protections

         23  when it comes to what they wear and how they look

         24  while at work.

         25                 City employees are entitled to
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          2  perform the functions of their job without the fear

          3  of reprisal because their beliefs require them to

          4  wear religious garb while at work.

          5                 Most employers strive to have the

          6  broadest pool of the most qualified candidates when

          7  making hiring decisions.

          8                 Restricting religious dress in the

          9  workplace limits New York's access to otherwise

         10  qualified candidates.

         11                 The City should strive to attract a

         12  wide flow of candidates, including people whose

         13  dress may be different because of their religion.

         14                 Complaints against religious

         15  discrimination in the workplace are the fastest

         16  growing form of complaint at the Equal Employment

         17  Opportunity Commission.

         18                 In fact, in the ten-year period from

         19  1993 to 2003, religious discrimination complaints

         20  rose 75 percent. While this law will not eliminate

         21  all complaints, it does address one form of

         22  religious discrimination that has generated

         23  complaints by City employees.

         24                 Employers all over the country have

         25  realized that permitting religious garb in the
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          2  workplace is a good business decision, an investment

          3  in their staff and often serves as an employee

          4  morale booster.

          5                 Moreover, it means retaining staff

          6  who are both religious and valued contributors to

          7  the work environment.

          8                 As a public employer, New York should

          9  embrace this philosophy.

         10                 I just want to add one reservation to

         11  some of the language in the current proposal.

         12                 Based on the preamble to the

         13  amendment, it's apparent intent is to accommodate

         14  those uniformed employees whose religion requires

         15  them to adhere to particular grooming standards or

         16  wear particular headwear, garb or jewelry.

         17                 The amendment's inclusion in the last

         18  sentence of the terms "practice" and "including but

         19  not limited to" may unintentionally go beyond the

         20  intent of the amendment.

         21                 Religious practice is a broad term

         22  which can encompass unwanted proselytizing at work,

         23  refusal, for example, of police officers to take

         24  particular assignments based on religious belief,

         25  such as regarding abortion clinics.
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          2                 However, religious diversity in the

          3  workplace is an asset that should be celebrated. The

          4  intent of the bill is to ensure that the workplace

          5  of uniformed employees remains accessible to

          6  everyone and free of all forms of discrimination,

          7  and we support that.

          8                 MS. LEWIS: Yes, good afternoon. My

          9  name is Stephanie D. Lewis, and I'm here to support

         10  the bill. I'm very strong about the bill to support

         11  it, because I am a victim of discrimination.

         12                 I work for MTA. I've been employed

         13  with them for 15 years, and I've never had a problem

         14  with my kimar. I've never had a problem with it from

         15  the day that I started up until after 9/11 when

         16  Transit decided to discriminate upon me.

         17                 It was a very humiliating situation.

         18  I tried to -- well, I'm still dealing with the

         19  outcome. As of yet there is no outcome. We're in and

         20  out of court. We're in and out of arbitration. But

         21  it's a very sad situation in this day and time,

         22  especially in New York City, because there are so

         23  many different cultural religions.

         24                 I think this system, as far as the

         25  uniformed dress code, it should be addressed. This
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          2  bill should be passed, because it's a melting pot.

          3                 There are so many different people

          4  coming from so many different countries, and so many

          5  different religions. As my sister pointed out, it

          6  should be upon what you can do as far as getting the

          7  job done. Not as far as what you wear for your

          8  religion. If you're judged on your religion and it

          9  just knocks everything that our forefathers fought

         10  for.

         11                 So, this bill should be passed. It's

         12  a very important bill at this day in time, and I

         13  thank the Council for producing it. And with support

         14  from all of us, it will be passed.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         17  much for your time and testimony today. Thank you.

         18                 Our next panel, a panel of three. Dr.

         19  Amarjit Singh; Kuldip Singh; and Harjinder Singh

         20  Duggal.

         21                 Gentlemen, thank you very much. Just

         22  please state your name and give your testimony.

         23                 MR. SINGH: Good afternoon, honorable

         24  Chairperson, Council members and my fellow Americans

         25  who are here on the hearing.
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          2                 Today we are holding this hearing

          3  under the great code of our great president, Abraham

          4  Lincoln, "the government of the people, by the

          5  people, for the people." Over 100,000 Sikh peoples

          6  of this City, as well as half-million Sikh Americans

          7  and 25 million Sikhs around the world are watching

          8  at how this great City, which is the real mosaic of

          9  the United States of America will pass this bill,

         10  Intro. 577. When we look at the history of the Sikhs

         11  in this country, we are here for more than 100

         12  years, our ancestors were here and then they came in

         13  California. Today what we are facing in different

         14  parts of the world, including France and the few

         15  provinces of Germany are coming up with the laws

         16  against which is barring of our children to go to

         17  schools. This is very important, that a positive

         18  signal, a strong signal should go from New York City

         19  Council. This is the beacon of human rights,

         20  democracy, freedom, but this bill is very important

         21  to us, as when a precedent will be set here in other

         22  parts of the United States, the same will be

         23  followed, as for our contributions with our turbans

         24  as whether we can do our duty professionally or not,

         25  the fact of the matter is that more than 200,000

                                                            128

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  Sikhs sacrificed their lives during the first world

          3  war and second world war and the war of Garipoli and

          4  different parts of Europe and all, if we can die

          5  with our turbans on for the sake of freedom and for

          6  the sake of this new world order, which came after

          7  second world war, how we are considered unfit to

          8  perform our duties in here, New York and different

          9  places, with our turbans on.

         10                 For record, I have given a statement

         11  of speaker of legislative assembly, which he

         12  released today, that how Sikhs are going to go to

         13  Australia and he has mentioned about the importance

         14  of turbans for the Sikhs. So, we hope this City will

         15  send a positive signal, not only to the Sikhs in

         16  United States, but to the world, that this great

         17  country stands by the principles of Abraham Lincoln

         18  and this is really a Jeffersonian democracy.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 MR. KULDIP SINGH: Good afternoon,

         21  Chairman Joe Addabbo, Council Member Weprin, and

         22  Sikh community and the public at large present at

         23  this hearing. My name is Kuldip Singh. I am the

         24  President of the United Sikhs, a member of the

         25  American Sikh Consultative Forum, and I am here to
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          2  present my testimony.

          3                 The Sikh identity is proclaimed by

          4  5Ks the unshorn hair, the wooden comb, long shorts,

          5  the steel bangle, kirpan, which is scimitar.

          6  Besides, a Sikh is required to wear a turban, which

          7  is called Dastaar. A Sikh with a turban and a beard

          8  stand out in crowed. This is highly visible and

          9  makes the Sikhs a special minority.

         10                 Highly educated immigrants had to

         11  face difficulties in employment, accommodations,

         12  professional advancement and education of their

         13  children, in spite of having anti-discrimination

         14  laws.

         15                 A common question on a job interview

         16  has been "Are you prepared to adopt the American

         17  dress?" The real meaning of this question is, are

         18  you willing to cut your hair? Sikh employees who

         19  became citizens are asked by their supervisors if

         20  they plan to cut their hair. They are disgraced. And

         21  many Sikh find the alternatives in their careers and

         22  became the owner of their own businesses.

         23                 The Intro. 577 bill allows Sikhs to

         24  serve their country without sacrificing on their

         25  religious sentiments. Tomorrow our children will not

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  have to choose between serving their fashion and

          3  their religion identity, from which stems their

          4  resolve to stand up for the justice and the call to

          5  the country's duty.

          6                 This bill in now way would dampen the

          7  dampen the spirit of the nature of work of the City

          8  agencies, having a Sikh serving on New York City

          9  streets or in visible position would help to reduce

         10  the hate crime.

         11                 Today whenever there is an orange

         12  alert or any security measures taken, Sikhs have to

         13  rethink before stepping out from their homes to

         14  their jobs or schools as what would they do in case

         15  there is a false branding because of their attire.

         16                 The common man on the street would be

         17  well versed, if he or she has a sick man or woman

         18  with a turban serving in the New York City agencies.

         19                 This bill is the voice of America and

         20  we the members of your constituents as you to help

         21  us by delivering this bill. Thank you once again for

         22  the opportunity to testify.

         23                 MR. SINGH BINDRA: Good afternoon to

         24  everybody. It's an honor to be sitting in a room

         25  full of people who honor Mr. Weprin and Addabbo and
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          2  anybody else who are so kind, and true American who

          3  have seen the wisdom of not denying any human his

          4  basic human rights.

          5                 For this country, I cannot say all is

          6  wrong. It's supposed to be the biggest democracy in

          7  the world, and it is. It has some jolts here and

          8  there. I can say an instance about when I lived

          9  here, when I came in here and I joined here AT&T, I

         10  was told, would you consider taking turban and beard

         11  off? I was a shock to me that this country, land of

         12  this nation this size and this media did not know

         13  the follower of the fifth largest religion have to

         14  have on cut hair and turban and symbols. We took

         15  upon the case AT&T and we won. A friend of mine

         16  before me won the case.

         17                 A couple of years later, we had a

         18  case of a Sikh scientist in Kentucky, he was told to

         19  remove turban for a hard hat, and we fought that

         20  with him. We won that one.

         21                 Down the road I will say that this is

         22  only God graced country, the difficult fight and win

         23  eventually all the time (sic). It's easy for me to

         24  say that one, but last two years, when I took upon

         25  the case of the NYPD employee, the employee Jaggi,
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          2  which came to be a landmark case in this country

          3  against NYPD, I was fed up before that. Now for me

          4  personally, this country has not done anything wrong

          5  to me. I have tried and have succeeded in all,

          6  because I will not take no from anybody.

          7                 The Commissioner of New York City

          8  Police or any Governor, anybody.

          9                 Along the way, what I found out,

         10  people will help, and when the start of the turban

         11  case, I wish the attorney for the City was here

         12  right now, and of course you've got the testimony

         13  also, that the litany of the list that he gave today

         14  of all the problems was more than what I was given

         15  at the trial of NYPD case. And we surmounted that,

         16  and hopefully that list have gone half the size.

         17  That didn't go. And really was through you that bill

         18  must be passed, because not everybody has to come

         19  and face all this money wasting options and time

         20  wasting options.

         21                 And once again I thank very much for

         22  people like yourself and others who took part in

         23  this thing. And not being a lawyer, I won the

         24  landmark case in the country against NYPD,

         25  single-handedly basically, with the help of
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          2  Commission on Human Rights. And I must say that

          3  people who perfected this crime of annoying people,

          4  or disregarding their job potential, they should be

          5  held accountable.

          6                 I made a statement to the press many

          7  years ago, that even though high-ranking people,

          8  they should be held accountable for denying the

          9  basic duty of job, and wasting my time, my money,

         10  your money and everybody else who are here, have to

         11  be hard-working people, and they have done nothing

         12  wrong, and down the road I assure you the NYPD will

         13  be looking forward to hiring primarily Sikhs and

         14  Sikhs first for their own good actually.

         15                 And I also want to caution those

         16  young Sikh boys and girls here, I will caution them,

         17  do not make an official market of business and all

         18  those things. Be honest. This NYPD has nothing to do

         19  with anybody else but the case of myself and on

         20  Jaggi's behalf, and we won it. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Sir if you can just state your name

         24  for the record.

         25                 MR. SINGH BINDRA: Pritam,
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          2  P-r-i-t-a-m, Singh, Bindra. I have been down the

          3  years, Chairman and Founder of the Temple this

          4  country here on the East Coast here, and trustee,

          5  and for the last 20 years, founder and Chairman of

          6  Panthic Cause, which does service for any Sikh in

          7  this country or any place at all cost to me and no

          8  fund for anybody else. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         12  your time and testimony.

         13                 Next panel, or panel of four, we have

         14  Mohinder Singh; Barnett Cohen; Rahma Aleta Walker;

         15  and Inderjit Singh.

         16                 Thank you very much for being here.

         17  Please state your name for the record and give your

         18  testimony, please.

         19                 MR. MOHINDER SINGH: I'm Mohinder

         20  Singh. I'm the Chairman, Board of Trust of New York

         21  City, Sikh Center, New York City, and I'm here on

         22  behalf of the American Sikh Consultant Forum.

         23                 Good afternoon, Council Members, and

         24  I thank you for the opportunity to testify today. My

         25  concern today is to express the importance of the

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  Intro. 577. It's based on the choice our children

          3  will have to make tomorrow in deciding what career

          4  to pursue against the religious sentiments.

          5                 I on behalf of the Sikh community

          6  seek support on this bill from the Council member.

          7  Your support on this bill will make Sikhs to decide

          8  whether he or she has to compromise on the religious

          9  sanctity or pursue some of the selective

         10  opportunities, career opportunities available, which

         11  will compromise the Sikh sanctity, which is the

         12  right given to us as a sovereign and keeping our

         13  hair uncut and wearing the dastaar, which is turban.

         14                 Only last year my daughter, after

         15  graduating from high school, wanted to join the U.S.

         16  Navy. After pursuing, making a lot of efforts to

         17  join the Navy, the question of dastaar, the turban

         18  and uncut hair came up as questionable. It was not

         19  clear whether that will be permitted or not.

         20                 So, as a result, she had decided to

         21  abandon the career she wanted to follow, and take

         22  the second choice.

         23                 I'm skipping. The reason I'm skipping

         24  is some items we already covered. So sanctity of the

         25  Sikh is an external expression and for which we
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          2  stand is true to justice and freedom. And recently a

          3  21-year-old, a fallen hero from the Operation Iraqi

          4  Freedom, served this country in Iraq and died on

          5  December 2003, due to the injuries sustained by the

          6  enemy fire. He served his community with his life,

          7  while two colonels from British Army in Iraq were

          8  serving with full Sikh sentiments maintained while

          9  Uldecin (phonetic) had to compromise his religious

         10  and sentiments to pursue the career, eventually he

         11  lost his life.

         12                 So, I urge the Councilman not to let

         13  this happen again. The strength of the Sikh and the

         14  message behind it is an entity that is the star

         15  being one of the marks of loyalty, freedom and

         16  justice, which are the values America stands for.

         17  Taken without identity is a person without any

         18  dignity. You have the opportunity to make the mark

         19  on history which will become example to the rest of

         20  the country.

         21                 Finally, once again I urge you to

         22  support this bill and thank you for the opportunity

         23  to testify today. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         25  much. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. INDERJIT SINGH: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Inderjit Singh. For the past 11 years I

          4  have served as a station agent to the Metropolitan

          5  Transit Authority. I'm speaking on behalf of myself

          6  and other for Sikh station agents who are presently

          7  suffering as a result of the MTA's discrimination

          8  policy against our religion.

          9                 I am a Sikh and I have always worn a

         10  turban.  In the past not once has my turban been an

         11  issue on the job. It was only in April 2005 that my

         12  turban became a problem. In April I was told to pick

         13  up my new MTA-issued turban, I was provided with one

         14  turban and an MTA patch, which I was asked to affix

         15  to my turban immediately. A turban is not a hat, and

         16  one size does not fit all. I tie a new turban each

         17  day and I have my own method and style for tying my

         18  turban. I need a turban that is eight yard long. My

         19  turban is not branded with any patches, buttons or

         20  any other accessories.

         21                 I cannot wear the MTA logo because

         22  wearing a logo on my turban would undermine the

         23  special sanctity of my turban. My non-Sikh

         24  co-workers wear headdresses without logos. My

         25  employer itself issue hard hats and winter hats
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          2  without a logo. I therefore feel that I am being

          3  discriminated against. My turban has never been

          4  interfered with my function as a station agent.

          5                 I thus join all other Sikh and Muslim

          6  MTA employees working with authority, we do not wish

          7  to be asked choose between our religious beliefs and

          8  our livelihood. That's why we are presently fighting

          9  the MTA in federal court. We are fighting for our

         10  right to equal treatment.

         11                 As an immigrant, I came to this

         12  country with the high hopes and the belief that

         13  America is a land of religious freedom. If I, and

         14  people like me cannot keep a job that I have for 11

         15  years because of my religious faith, what type of

         16  message does it send to our young people.

         17                 We should be encouraging our young

         18  Sikhs to be a part of the garment workforce and by

         19  extension a part of the garment. We should not

         20  exclude people based solely on their religious

         21  practices. New York will be stronger when our City

         22  reflects its diversity.

         23                 What is happening to me now should

         24  never happen to anybody. With your help, we can pass

         25  a law that will ensure all New Yorkers truly have an
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          2  opportunity to serve with their fellow New Yorkers

          3  based on their ability to do their job, not their

          4  religion.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MS. WALKER: You'll have to forgive me

          7  because this is my first time. I'm unrehearsed. I

          8  don't have anything made up, and I'm here in the

          9  name of God the Almighty, by his mercy I am thankful

         10  to be able to share this interaction of life with

         11  you.

         12                 My name is Rahma Aleta Walker. I'm a

         13  member and employer of the New York Interface

         14  Services, the Islamic Circle of North America. The

         15  Muslim Women Health Network and the United Muslim

         16  Movement Against Homelessness.

         17                 From what I understand, issues of

         18  subjectivity and implementation of the law need to

         19  be addressed, and not just the wording of the law.

         20                 As long as it's left up to the

         21  employer to decide when and to whom he'll allow

         22  reasonable accommodations and such things, the

         23  problem is going to continue to exist in litigation,

         24  and that's a waste of everybody's time and a

         25  hardship on people. Without their -- you know, we
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          2  have the right to exist. God gave us the right to

          3  exist. And in terms of my religious garb, Muslims,

          4  depending on the interpretation of the holy text,

          5  some cover their face and some don't. In my case I

          6  cover my face. And I feel that if a doctor performs

          7  the most intricate of neural surgery with his face

          8  covered, surely I can perform office work with mine.

          9  And a baby is veiled within the woman, is only

         10  intimately viewed by those who have that right to

         11  view him. Such is the case with me. I am veiled

         12  also, and I also have the right to exist just like a

         13  baby in that womb.

         14                 And part of my existence is having

         15  the equal right to gainful employment, choice of

         16  careers, and anything that goes with that.

         17                 I'm a born New Yorker, okay? And my

         18  value -- I'm sorry, my time is up. But I'll leave it

         19  at this: We're all born as Muslims, which is to be

         20  submitting to the role of God. And we need to live

         21  like that.

         22                 Thank you for allowing me the time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I want to thank

         24  this panel. Thank you very much for your time and

         25  testimony.
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          2                 Ladies and gentlemen, that concludes

          3  our hearing on Intro. 577. Again, we will reevaluate

          4  all the testimony both given verbally and written.

          5  We will speak to the Mayor's Administration and see

          6  what common ground we can find there.

          7                 I was looking for a Mr. Barnett

          8  Cohen. Is there a Mr. Barnett Cohen here? I

          9  mentioned his name and he didn't come forward.

         10                 Sir, did you fill out one of these?

         11  You did. And your name, sir?

         12                 Mr. Singh, you will be the last

         13  speaker. We will give you two minutes.

         14                 MR. SINGH: Good afternoon. My name is

         15  Swandi Singh (phonetic). I'm the president of World

         16  Sikh Peace Foundation. I've been living in New York

         17  City for the past 23 years, and I started in this

         18  country with my $3.25 job. And my first job when I

         19  went out. They interviewed me. They liked me. They

         20  hired me. And when I supposed to come there, they

         21  said, are you going to come back on your job

         22  tomorrow with your head gear? I said, this is how I

         23  am. I will be coming like this only.

         24                 And the second incident I was

         25  discriminated, I was working for Corporate America,
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          2  and when I was working in the company, the owner of

          3  the company, he told me one day F You, your turban

          4  is too tight. I took the gentleman in the company to

          5  the court and I went up to Appellate Court. I won

          6  the case. And you were discussing about this whole

          7  situation, Title 7, Title 8, Title 15. I'm not a

          8  lawyer, but I learned so much by living in this

          9  country and going through and falling through the

         10  system. Everybody is not that knowledgeable.

         11  Everybody is not that determined to follow the law

         12  and follow the system. Somebody has to have a

         13  definition to do this.

         14                 I want to share another incident. In

         15  this country, after 9/11, I gave up my -- I was the

         16  VP of Sales. I gave up my full-time job just to go

         17  and educate people who the Sikhs are. Unfortunately,

         18  when I distributed almost $22,000 worth of water and

         19  they prayed, very next day I hear from intelligence

         20  department in the police, oh, it was a terrorist

         21  act. Ignorance.

         22                 There's a lot of ignorance. And only

         23  way what we can do is, is we can remove, if this

         24  bill will really help us. But something which I will

         25  like to add to this is, City has so much budget, we
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          2  should educate people. School curriculum should have

          3  how to understand, how to respect each other. We are

          4  all different. We come from different countries,

          5  different part of the world, but we are all creation

          6  of one God.

          7                 The last I will say one thing. I've

          8  been a great fan of JFK. He said something very

          9  interesting. Time to fix the roof is when the sun is

         10  shining. Today is the day, let's pass the bill,

         11  overwhelming majority.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Singh.

         15                 We always like to end on a high note.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 Ladies and gentlemen, again, this is

         18  the first oversight hearing of Intro. 577. We will

         19  have further discussion with the Administration to

         20  see if we can get the Mayor's Administration to

         21  agree.

         22                 Currently Intro. 577 has 24 sponsors

         23  of the legislation, that is not enough for a veto

         24  override. Even if we were to pass it, the City

         25  Council, and the Mayor as of today would probably

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  veto it, we do not have enough support to override

          3  the veto. So, again, similar to the prior hearing

          4  earlier today, I encourage you to speak out to your

          5  Council Members, working with Council Member Weprin

          6  to encourage other Council members to support it, to

          7  sign onto it, so, again, you can get to that magic

          8  number to override a veto, if we had to.

          9                 Once again, I appreciate everyone's

         10  time here today. To those who were at the panel and

         11  gave testimony, I appreciate your patience with the

         12  time limit and so that we got to hear everyone.

         13  Thank you very much, everyone. Have a great day.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 (The following written testimony was

         16  read into the record.)

         17

         18

         19  Written Testimony Of:

         20  Cheryl Wertz

         21  Director of Government Access at New Immigrant

         22  Community Empowerment (NICE)

         23

         24                 Thank you, Chairman Addabbo, and

         25  members of the Committee for the opportunity to
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          2  testify today on this important

          3  anti-discrimination/pro-fairness legislation.

          4                 My name is Cheryl Wertz, and I am the

          5  Director of Government Access at New Immigrant

          6  Community Empowerment, or NICE.

          7                 I am here today in complete support

          8  of Intro. 577, the City Uniform Anti-Discrimination

          9  Bill, because we must end government sponsored

         10  discrimination and because the City needs the

         11  services of thousands of men and women of faith.

         12                 NICE is a civil rights and immigrant

         13  advocacy organization working to ensure that all

         14  immigrants are informed, active, and influential in

         15  civic, governmental and public affairs.

         16                 The organization was founded in 1999

         17  in response to an anti-immigrant billboard and

         18  public message of hate.

         19                 Since its inception, NICE has been

         20  working to address hate crimes on a variety of

         21  levels, primarily through the creation of a

         22  community-wide rapid response network.

         23                 In less than 6 years we have

         24  organized almost a dozen community meetings, vigils,

         25  marches, and events in response to individual hate
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          2  crimes. The message is always the same. An attack on

          3  one community is an attack on all communities and we

          4  will not stand for violence in our own

          5  neighborhoods.

          6                 Unfortunately, there is still plenty

          7  of work to do. As is often quoted by the Mayor and

          8  his representatives almost all types of crime in the

          9  City are down, but hate crimes against certain

         10  communities remain a critical exception to this

         11  rule.

         12                 Since September 11, 2001, we have

         13  been living in a world in which hatred and violence

         14  against Sikh, South Asian, Arab, and Muslim

         15  community members is not only accepted, it is

         16  expected. Similarly, despite years of dedicated

         17  efforts by government officials and community

         18  leaders, painted swastikas in schools or on doors

         19  are still sources of disappointment and anger, but

         20  rarely shock.

         21                 As community members and advocates,

         22  we have much work to do to end discrimination and

         23  hate crimes, but we cannot do it alone. As long as

         24  government, on any level, sends the message that

         25  there is something wrong with the Sikh, Muslim and
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          2  Jewish communities, that individuals are somehow

          3  suspect or less qualified by virtue of their

          4  religion, there is little that we as community

          5  members can do to correct that perception. Let me be

          6  clear. Unfair discrimination against Sikh, Muslim,

          7  and Jewish community members in the City's uniformed

          8  services sends a loud and clear message to both

          9  members of those communities and those that believe

         10  that discrimination and hatred against these

         11  communities are acceptable practices. The message to

         12  Sikh, Muslim and Jewish community members is that

         13  the City does not trust you, represent you, include

         14  you or protect you. The message to outside

         15  communities is that hatred and discrimination in the

         16  private sector are justifiable.

         17                 In addition to sending a message of

         18  intolerance for discrimination, this legislation

         19  supports the City's search for quality employees.

         20  Thousands of men and women of faith represent a

         21  potentially enormous contribution to the dozens of

         22  City offices that use uniformed services. They are

         23  educated, diligent, and dedicated prospective

         24  employees who are being removed from consideration

         25  for employment because of their religion, something
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          2  which has nothing to do with their ability to do the

          3  work of the City, be it serving as police officers,

          4  sanitation workers or parks department officials.

          5                 While I am happy to do whatever I can

          6  to support this critical legislation, I am depressed

          7  by the need to be here today. It is incredible that

          8  in the Year 2005, we are still debating concepts of

          9  fairness and religious discrimination in government.

         10                 I urge you to support Intro. 577

         11  because it is an important step in ending government

         12  sanctioned religious discrimination and allows the

         13  City to retain and hire thousands of individuals who

         14  are, or would be, an asset to the City.

         15                 Thank you.

         16

         17

         18

         19  Written Testimony Of:

         20  Tushar J. Sheth

         21  Staff Attorney

         22  Asian American Legal Defense and Education Fund

         23

         24  New York City Council

         25  Hearing on City Uniform Anti-Discrimination Bill,
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          2  Intro. 577

          3

          4                 Good afternoon, I am Tushar J. Sheth,

          5  Staff Attorney at the Asian American Legal Defense

          6  and Education Fund ("AALDEF"). Founded in 1974,

          7  AALDEF works to protect and promote the civil rights

          8  of Asian Americans through litigation, legal

          9  advocacy, and community education in the areas of

         10  immigrants rights, civic participation and voting

         11  rights, economic justice for workers, racially

         12  motivated violence and police misconduct, youth

         13  rights and educational equity, affirmative action,

         14  and language rights. Thank you for hearing from us

         15  today.

         16                 AALDEF emphatically endorses the

         17  Uniform Anti-Discrimination Bill and commends the

         18  City Council and the Sikh Coalition in their efforts

         19  to make it into law.

         20                 Employees of New York City agencies

         21  are a part of the group of people that make up our

         22  City's leaders. It is an important principal that

         23  all of us should have access to these positions of

         24  leadership, regardless of our religious beliefs or

         25  customs.
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          2                 If individuals are discriminated

          3  against, not only are they denied gainful

          4  employment, fundamentally, they are also prevented

          5  from taking of an opportunity. An opportunity for a

          6  better job and life, the bedrock principle of the

          7  American dream, and a chance to serve and lead in

          8  one's own community. Such high minded aspirations

          9  should not be thwarted by ignorant and hateful

         10  discrimination.

         11                 By taking this stand, the City of New

         12  York also sends a powerful message to all New

         13  Yorkers, especially private employers, that

         14  discrimination on the basis of religious belief or

         15  custom is wrong. New York City is a diverse place,

         16  and people from all backgrounds should have access

         17  to all forms of employment.

         18                 Unfortunately, we know that religious

         19  discrimination in the workplace is too common. But

         20  if this bill is passed, individuals who are

         21  subjected to such ignorance and hate will be in a

         22  stronger position to assert their rights because

         23  they will be able to say that he New York City

         24  government agrees with their position.

         25                 Thank you again for your time.
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          2                 Respectfully, Tushar J. Sheth, Staff

          3  Attorney, Asian American Legal Defense and Education

          4  Fund.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 4:07 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 17th day of November 2005.

         20
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         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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